
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 25 August 2021 

 

Dear Councillor,  
 
CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be held remotely - via Microsoft 
Teams on Wednesday, 1 September 2021 at 09:30. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Apologies for Absence    

 To receive apologies for absence from Members. 

2.  Declarations of Interest    
 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 

accordance with the provisions of the Members Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 1 
September 2008 (including whipping declarations) 

3.  Approval of Minutes   3 - 10 

 To receive for approval the minutes of 09 06 21 

4.  Budget Monitoring 2021-22 - Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast   11 - 32 

 Invitees 
 
Councillor Huw David - Leader 
Councillor Hywel Williams - Deputy Leader 
Councillor Stuart Baldwin - Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Nicole Burnett - Cabinet Member for Social Services and Early Help 
Councillor Dhanisha Patel - Cabinet Member for Future Generations and Wellbeing 
Councillor Charles Smith - Cabinet Member for Education & Regeneration 
 
Mark Shephard - Chief Executive 
Lindsay Harvey - Corporate Director - Education and Family Support 
Gill Lewis - Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change  
Claire Marchant - Corporate Director - Social Services and Wellbeing 
Janine Nightingale - Corporate Director - Communities 
Kelly Watson - Chief Officer Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 
 

5.  Review of Budget Research & Evaluation Panel   33 - 38 

  

Public Document Pack



Invitees 
 
Gill Lewis - Interim Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change  
 

6.  Social Services Annual Report 2020/21   39 - 132 

  
Invitees 
 
Claire Marchant - Corporate Director Social Services & Wellbeing 
Councillor Nicole Burnett - Cabinet Member for Social Services & Early Help   
Councillor Dhanisha Patel - Cabinet Member for Future Generations and Wellbeing 
Jackie Davies - Head of Adult Social Care 
Laura Kinsey - Head of Children’s Social Care 
Andrew Thomas - Group Manager - Sports and Physical Activity 
Pete Tyson - Group Manager - Commissioning 
 

7.  Scrutiny Annual Report  
 

133 - 158 

8.  Forward Work Programme Update  
 

159 - 174 

9.  Urgent Items    

 To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in 
accordance with Part 4 (paragraph 4) of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person 
presiding at the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be 
transacted at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 

Note: Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held 
at its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending 
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site 
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding 
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services  
 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
JPD Blundell 
J Gebbie 
DG Howells 
M Jones 

RL Penhale-Thomas 
KL Rowlands 
RMI Shaw 
JC Spanswick 

T Thomas 
MC Voisey 
A Williams 
AJ Williams 



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

1 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
HELD REMOTELY - VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 AT 09:30 

 
Present 

 
Councillor  KL Rowlands – Chairperson  

 
JPD Blundell J Gebbie DG Howells RMI Shaw 
JC Spanswick T Thomas A Williams AJ Williams 
    
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
M Jones and RL Penhale-Thomas 
 
Officers: 
 
Meryl Lawrence Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny 
Mark Shephard Chief Executive 
Tracy Watson Scrutiny Officer 
 
Invitees: 

 
Councillor Nicole Burnett Cabinet Member Social Services and Early 

Help 
Councillor Huw David Leader 

 
15. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 

 
RESOLVED:                         That Councillor KL Rowlands be elected as Chairperson of 

the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
Municipal Year. 

 
16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
None 
 

17. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED:                        That the Minutes of a meeting of the Combined meeting of 

all Overview and Scrutiny Committees dated 20, 21 and 25 
January 2021, be approved as a true and accurate record. 

 
18. CROSS-PARTY RECOVERY PANEL RECOMMENDATIONS AND CABINET 

PROGRESS RESPONSE 
 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny presented the Committee with the 
Cabinet progress response to the Cross-Party Recovery Panel’s Recommendations 
attached, in Appendix A, and the Cross-Party Recovery Panel’s latest 
Recommendations, attached in Appendix B. 
 
Members of the Committee asked the following: 
 
A Member made a general point in relation to the recommendations and asked how the 
Committee would ensure that the recommendations which had been accepted by 
Cabinet and closed, or were still ongoing, were tracked going forward. How would the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

2 

Committee measure success going forward and the deliverability against the panel’s 
recommendations. 
 
The Chief Executive felt that this was a helpful question and provided brief context of the 
purpose of the panel. He felt that moving forward those issues raised by the panel 
should become part of business as usual, and those of further relevance picked up as 
part of normal scrutiny activity e.g., housing and homelessness, principles of a co-
operative council, etc.  As part of the councils recovery, there were new things and 
potentially more important things, to now focus and spend time on such as health and 
equalities, anti-poverty, digital, the new operating model for the council, mental health 
and the 2030 agenda, which had emerged out of the pandemic that should be 
prioritised, rather than perhaps inevitably one or two of the things that were very 
pertinent at the time. It was for Members to be selective and pick out both the existing 
recommendations but also perhaps some new ones where those recovery elements 
deserved more focus and could be picked up as part of the normal scrutiny agenda for 
each of the committees.  
 
A Member asked, in relation to recommendation 1, whether there would be any re-
proportion of budgets to allow the Communities Directorate to re-green or re-vamp other 
spaces other than Halo, Awen and the parks and playing fields. 
 
The Chief Executive explained that this had to be a holistic response, and certainly part 
of the response was about leisure centres, culture and sports facilities for schools but, 
the intention was also to try and create additional green spaces, where possible, within 
town centres. There was recognition that the value of culture, leisure and green spaces 
had been key in the pandemic and that footpaths had also been incredibly valuable.  In 
terms of the budget, this was in Members’ hands and a matter for Council, when 
budgets were set, however the Recovery Panel’s recommendations would inform budget 
processes moving forward.  Historically something that might have been regarded as 
less important, may become things to invest in and re-focus on, particularly with 
significant changes in the way people lead their lives. The investment in culture, leisure 
and green spaces was certainly recognised already, and that would continue, but other 
parts may become more important as well. The LDP consultation had just started and 
there was an anticipation that a number of the responses would be to do with green 
space and the support for keeping green space as well.  
 
The Leader suggested in response to the questions on recommendations, that if any of 
the ongoing actions could be incorporated into the routine scrutiny quarterly 
performance review arrangements, then he would look to do that. In relation to green 
spaces, the Member asked a pertinent question which had been reflected in discussions 
with local members, including the feedback around plans for Salt Lake in Porthcawl and 
the need to ensure that green spaces were integral to regeneration, noting there were 
plans to extend Griffin Park. It was very clear that people valued even the smallest green 
spaces, particularly in urban environments, so the Authority would look to do more of 
that as further plans were considered, right across the borough, making sure that green 
space was of the highest quality and the ecological value of any green space was 
considered. There was a duty to promote bio-diversity, which was also a feature of 
planning going forward. 
 
A Member noted the increase in rights of way referrals, and asked if there were sufficient 
staff in place to deal with them. In addition, she raised concern that Awen had recently 
handed Litchard Park back to the Council and asked what was being done to ensure 
that they were continuing with green spaces and wouldn’t hand them back. 
 
The Chief Executive noted, on the specific issue of Litchard Park, that this was is a 
legacy issue in respect of the previous MTFS saving on Awen before the pandemic. 

Page 4



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

3 

Money had been taken off Awen and therefore they had reviewed what they could 
manage in terms of their management fee. He did not think they had any wider ambition 
to hand green space back and were a valued partner, working with the Council very 
effectively. In terms of rights of way, there were two separate issues. Member referrals 
had nearly doubled, possibly as a consequence of the way everyone was now working. 
There was an ongoing review, about the whole member referral system, although this 
had taken a little bit longer than anticipated because of the pandemic. Part of that 
solution would be more self-help for members in terms of links and being able to find out 
information by accessing links on the website. In the meantime, resources had been 
increased in rights of way, as recognition of the increased demand, but this was a finite 
resource. He felt that some of the priorities moving forward could change, as a result of 
the pandemic. Rights of way and green space may deserve a higher priority going 
forward, but that came with a choice about what would not be invested in. He felt that 
Members wanted a greater focus on investment on these kind of things, and that was 
something that could be fed through the budget process and indeed through BREP, as 
part of informing the process. 
 
A Member echoed the previous Members’ comments and said his understanding 
previously was that it was a staffing issue, which was causing the main backlog.  Now a 
Search Officer had been recruited, could the Chief Executive confirm that there was 
adequate staffing and resource levels to tackle the backlog of problems with rights of 
way. 
 
The Chief Executive advised said that it came back to years of disinvestment in things 
like rights of way with the total size of the team reducing quite significantly, perhaps 
rightly or wrongly, when things like rights of way were deemed as less important. There 
was wider recognition, post pandemic, in the value of things like rights of way, and 
therefore it was not just about responding to the current position but trying to mitigate 
years of disinvestment. He couldn’t guarantee that the Council had absolutely the 
amount of resource for everything that Members would want but unfortunately, that was 
the position for a lot of the organisation. The pressures had been recognised and 
resources increased, and that position would be reviewed. If it became apparent that this 
was insufficient moving forward, then as part of the budget process, there would be a 
decision to make whether Members wished to make further investment in that area. 
 
A Member asked if, in relation to Recommendation 2, the training would be extended to 
coincide with the end of furlough, noting that social distancing was potentially going to 
last until at least until the end of the calendar year.  
 
The Chief Executive explained that the Economic Development Unit had said that they 
would liaise with not just businesses, but the third sector and charities as well and 
determine, what was now the priority for training. There was certainly a commitment to 
provide the necessary training, but it could be there were other things those 
organisations now felt were more valuable. The commitment to continue to work with 
them and provide adequate training was absolutely there and therefore he felt there 
would be a programme of work that would emerge from that liaison.   
 
A Member referred to Recommendation 3 and noted there was a huge concern in 
respect of PPE when the pandemic first arose, Although procedures were now in place, 
she asked for reassurance that there would be no future shortage. 
 
The Chief Executive acknowledged that having adequate PPE had been a very valid 
concern at the outset of the pandemic. Welsh Government (WG) had subsequently co-
ordinated and funded this very well. There was now a central store with all providers, not 
just council providers, having access to PPE by making an order through that store. To 

Page 5



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

4 

the best of his knowledge this had worked very successfully since last autumn and so 
was reasonable comfortable that the current system worked well.  
 
The Leader confirmed that there was a large stockpile, even if regular supplies were to 
stop. Both the UK and Welsh Governments had worked closely with industry to ensure 
there were suppliers in this country that were able to manufacture and produce the PPE, 
because one of the challenges previously faced, was that a lot of the suppliers were 
overseas. In addition PPE had been provided free of charge to care-providers in Wales, 
which had been of particular help to the third sector and independent providers in social 
care. 
 
A Member noted that Recommendation 6 was closed but requested a little more 
expansion on what material impact the plans had on the Local Authority. 
 
The Chief Executive confirmed there were ongoing meetings, on a weekly basis, with 
the Chief Executive and Chair of the Health Board and Senior Members of staff about 
recovery plans for waiting lists and elective surgery, for example, and how this would be 
addressed moving forward. There was a holistic conversation going on about how 
Health would recover from the pandemic, recognising that there could still be a third 
wave, but clearly there was a greater emphasis and more resource being included in 
what would happen over the next 2 or 3 years, to get back on an even keel. There was a 
bigger piece of work moving forward, which he anticipated would be ongoing for a 
number of years. 
 
The Leader noted that WG had announced an extra £30m for Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg University Health Board (CTM-UHB) to help tackle some of the backlog that 
resulted from the pandemic. This was funding for both mental and physical health, which 
he welcomed because clearly this was a huge priority.  The Council would be working 
with the CTM-UHB and supporting them on delivering that agenda, because it was a 
whole system approach, as there had been significant increased pressures on social 
services because lots of people who were discharged from hospital required care 
packages.  In addition funding had been provided through the WG’s hardship fund, 
providing support directly to provided and commissioned services in social care, but the 
anticipation was that those pressures would only grow. 
 
A Member confirmed that he had been reassured with the answers provided to his 
questions, but hoped for increased dialogue in terms of access to primary healthcare in 
the Valleys Gateways area, in light of the quite substantial housing development. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that he didn’t have an answer specifically to the Valleys 
Gateway primary care issue, but would be happy to raise it at the meeting the following 
week. 
 
The Leader added that major investment could be seen, with probably the biggest single 
investment in primary health care, in the new Sunnyside development, which would 
serve much of Bridgend Town, in addition to the new health care facility in Porthcawl, 
but more was needed. There was certainly reference in the LDP for the need for greater 
capacity in the Valley’s Gateway area and proposals around addressing that.  Further 
discussions would take place with the Health Board because it was one of the most 
important public issues and for elected representatives, that when considering major 
developments primary health care was planned for as much as any other infrastructure. 
 
A Member asked in relation to Recommendation 8, whether it was anticipated, there 
would be a rise in homelessness after furlough ended, noting that as the rules on 
evictions changed a lot of people would find themselves in a difficult situation. 
 

Page 6



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

5 

The Chief Executive advised that he understood that the Cross-Party Recovery Panel 
had looked at housing and homelessness separately. For the time being WG financial 
support continued to support local authorities with homelessness, but he was concerned 
moving forward that if that additional support ended, there was an expectation now to be 
able to deal effectively with all homeless people in the area.  If that significantly 
increased demand occurred then the Authority would be looking to WG to resource this 
and fund this properly if there was going to be an additional burden on the Local 
Authority. He felt that homelessness and how the Authority copes was probably an 
example of a matter that would need to be considered moving forward, because there 
were still unknowns and the potential for increased demand. 
 
A Member asked in relation to Recommendation 16, becoming a cooperative council, 
why the Council had not joined. 
 
The Chief Executive noted that this had been discussed at length at Cabinet CMB and it 
came down to a discussion about the added value of going through the formal process, 
when there were already, certainly post pandemic, a plethora of existing programmes 
that the Council were committed to delivering.  He felt it would be a sensible and 
proportionate move, recognising that a lot of the principles of a co-operative council 
were also aligned with things like the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, and 
Socio-economic Duty and things like the involvement of local people, to observe how 
that went over the next year.  If it was deemed a political priority post-election, whoever 
the ruling administration was at that point could make it so, as part of their priorities 
moving forward.  
 
The Leader noted that there was often a financial contribution required and what had 
been considered to be the more important action was that the Council act as a co-
operative council, rather than simply signing up to being one, because it was about how 
you act and the values. The Council had a reasonable track record in terms of working 
with Halo, in terms of the development of Awen and working with Town and Community 
Councils, so he felt those values were there. What would be done was to think about 
whether there was more action that could be taken, rather than simply signing up to 
being a co-operative council. 
 
A Member, in relation to Recommendation 15, the disposal of surplus Council land, 
accepted the comments and the response but still had some concerns, partly because 
the response had been provided from a financial position.  He felt there was legislation, 
which could be used to release land for social housing without having to consider only 
the financial cost. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that he understood where Members were coming from and 
certainly, in previous conversations, it had been explained that there was a requirement 
for the Authority to achieve best value or best consideration in terms of land disposal, 
but he took the point, about how best value or consideration could be demonstrated. 
 
When the Authority owned valuable pieces of land, careful consideration was needed 
about giving that away free, because that might not be prudent. There were, however, 
also various smaller pieces of land, particularly in the Valleys area, where there would 
not be a significant financial value and in those cases, a different way forward could be 
considered whether for social housing, green space or other community benefit. The 
bigger challenge again was resourcing within Corporate Landlord to do all of that, often 
for small pieces of land throughout the County Borough, when they also had significant 
priority programmes for very large regeneration schemes. He agreed with Members and 
did not think that every piece of disposal land had to seek a financial value, but there 
had to be a social value or some value demonstrated to the Community in exchange for 
giving it away free. 

Page 7



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

6 

 
A Member thanked the Chief Executive for acknowledging the issues in the Valleys 
area, and felt there was a balance needed sometimes with the greatest financial return 
on large schemes and paying some attention to Valleys, by disposing of some of the 
smaller plots that the Council held. 
 
The Leader agreed about the importance of best value in its wider sense, not just 
financial value and the importance of regenerating the Valleys. The Cabinet had made it 
clear, that one of the priorities was that there was further development of sites, particular 
small and large brownfield sites that could enable new homes to be developed.  This 
wasn’t just about the purchase price and value of the land, which could be secondary 
consideration in many Valley Communities and often the biggest cost would be 
construction and site remediation.  However, it was about securing a developer and 
getting a developer on board to bring some of these sites forward. 
 
The Member stated that often the key was finding a developer who was interested. He 
suggested that some of the very small sites, which the Council owned, could be made 
available for small builders and self-build. It wasn’t always about finding a developer 
before a site was released and not all were brownfield sites and there were alternative 
routes, should these small parcels of land be made available. 
 
The Chief Executive concluded by saying that there had been some very valid points 
made, although all of these things came back to the priorities of the Council. He noted 
that he had heard demand for additional resource in rights of way, in homelessness and 
in corporate landlord. He felt all of the arguments on all those 3 areas were valid, but the 
overall challenge was ultimately how to afford all of the things within a finite budget. It 
was always a challenge to try and find the resource to do everything.  
 
RESOLVED:                            That the Committee noted the Cabinet progress response 

to the Cross-Party Recovery Panel’s Recommendations 
attached in Appendix A and endorsed the Findings and 
Recommendations attached in Appendix B, to be 
submitted to Cabinet on the 22nd June 2021. 

 
19. CORPORATE PARENTING CHAMPION NOMINATION REPORT 

 
The Chief Officer – Legal, HR & Regulatory Services submitted a report, the purpose of 
which was to request the Committee to nominate one Member as its Corporate 
Parenting Champion to represent the Committee as an invitee to meetings of the 
Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting. 
 
The Chairperson invited nominations , following which it was 
 
RESOLVED:                            That Councillor T Thomas be nominated to represent the 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee as an 
Invitee to meetings of the Cabinet Committee Corporate 
Parenting.  

 
20. NOMINATION TO THE PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
The Chief Officer – Legal, HR & Regulatory Services submitted a report, the purpose of 
which was to request the Committee to nominate three Members to sit on the Public 
Service Board Scrutiny Panel. 
 
The Chairperson invited nominations, following which it was 
 

Page 8



CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - WEDNESDAY, 9 JUNE 2021 

 

7 

RESOLVED:                          That the following Members were nominated to sit on the 
Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel: 

 
Councillor KL Rowlands 
Councillor RMI Shaw 
Councillor JC Spanswick  

 
21. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer – Scrutiny presented the Committee with the 
proposed draft outline Forward Work Programme (Appendix A) for discussion and 
consideration; requested any specific information the Committee identified to be 
included in the items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wished to attend; 
requested the Committee to identify any further items for consideration on the Forward 
Work Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 4.6; and asked the 
Committee to note that the proposed draft Forward Work Programmes for the Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees would be reported to the next meeting of COSC, 
with the comments from each respective Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
following consideration in their June Committee meetings. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Having considered the Forward Work Programme, the Committee made the following 
recommendations: 
 

1. That the Corporate Template for Reports to Scrutiny be amended to include 
commentary on ethical procurement and the decarbonisation agenda, and show 
due consideration to the workforce partnership act. 

 
2. That the Corporate Template for reports to Scrutiny be amended to include a 

section for an executive summary for each report. 
 
There were no further items identified for consideration on the Forward Work 
Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 4.6, and this could be 
revisited at the next meeting. 
 
There were no requests to include specific information in the item for the next meeting. 
 
 
RESOLVED:            That the Committee considered and agreed the proposed draft 

outline Forward Work Programme in Appendix A and noted that the 
proposed draft Forward Work Programmes for the Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees would be reported to the next 
meeting of the Committee, following the June cycle of Committee 
meetings. 

 
22. URGENT ITEMS 

 
None 
 
The meeting closed at 12:00 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
1 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 

CHANGE 
 

BUDGET MONITORING 2021-22 – QUARTER 1 REVENUE FORECAST 
 

1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an update on the 

Council’s revenue financial position as at 30th June 2021.  
 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered.  
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 On 24th February 2021, Council approved a net revenue budget of £298.956 million 

for 2021-22.  As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget 
projections are reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  
The delivery of agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to 
Cabinet as part of this process.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



4.  Current situation/proposal 
 

4.1 Summary financial position at 30th June 2021 
 
4.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and projected outturn for 2021-22 is shown in 

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 30th June 2021 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q1 

Projected 
Over / 

(Under) 
Spend 

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 Qtr 1 2020-21 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate 
 

    
  

 

    
Education and Family Support 127,055 127,092 127,863 771 1,992 
Social Services and Wellbeing 74,043 74,023 73,376 (647) 1,182 
Communities  28,137 28,159 28,783 624 (1,048) 

Chief Executive's 21,304 21,364 21,520 156 677 

Total Directorate Budgets 250,539 250,638 251,542 904 2,803 

Council Wide Budgets 
   

 

 

  
   

 

 

Capital Financing  7,329 7,329 7,329 0 0 

Levies 7,783 7,797 7,797 0 11 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 650 0 (14) 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,654 15,654 15,654 0 317 

Insurance Premiums 1,363 1,363 1,363 0 (66) 

Repairs & Maintenance 670 670 670 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 430 0 0 

Other Corporate Budgets 14,538 14,425 14,425 0 0 

Total Council Wide Budgets 48,417 48,318 48,318 0 248 

  
  

 

  

Total 298,956 298,956 299,860 904 3,051 

 
4.1.2 The overall projected position at 30th June 2021 is a net over spend of £904,000 

comprising £904,000 net over spend on directorates and a break even projection 
on council wide budgets. The projected position is based on:- 

 

 Inclusion of reimbursed expenditure to date on Covid-19 spend from Welsh 
Government (WG). 

 Exclusion of Covid-19 spend that is currently on hold with WG at the time of 
writing this report. 

 Exclusion of Covid-19 spend that has not yet been claimed but will be incurred in 
quarters 2 to 4. 

 Exclusion of support from WG for loss of income as the level of support has not 
been confirmed at the time of writing this report. 

  
 A detailed analysis of the more significant projected under and over spends is 

set out in section 4.3. 
 
 
 

Page 12



 Covid-19 
 
4.1.3 The UK was put into lockdown on 23rd March 2020 in an unprecedented step to 

attempt to limit the spread of coronavirus.  A Covid-19 Hardship fund was set up 
at an early stage by the Welsh Government to the value of £188.5 million which 
the Council was able to draw on for financial support.  Bridgend successfully 
claimed over £15 million in expenditure claims and over £5.5 million in loss of 
income claims in 2020-21. 

 
4.1.4 The Welsh Government has allocated £206.6 million in its budget to the 

Hardship fund to support local government for the first six months of 2021-22.  In 
relation to support beyond this period, WG have recently confirmed the 
extension of Covid-cost related support for the adult social care sector up to the 
end of the current financial year. 

 
4.1.5 The Authority will continue to claim from the Hardship fund against the eligible 

criteria and directorates will continue to capture costs incurred as a result of the 
ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Updates will continue to be provided 
to Cabinet through the quarterly revenue budget monitoring reports throughout 
2021-22. 

 
4.1.6 Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) agreed to establish a £1 

million Covid-19 Recovery Fund in 2020-21 to provide funding for conscious and 
proactive decisions aimed at boosting recovery that were unlikely to be paid for 
by WG.  The balance on this fund has been carried into 2021-22 and CCMB 
have approved the use of this fund to support the free car parking offer for town 
centres to the end of May, a phased rental income increase for BCBC owned 
premises, waiver of sports fees for the remainder of the 2020-21 season and 
summer play projects.  Further proposals will be considered by CCMB during 
2021-22. 

 
Estimated costs of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

 
4.1.7 Welsh Government has provided specific eligibility criteria for each of its funding 

streams, and all directorates have been made aware of them, and are capturing 
costs accordingly.  Any Covid-19 costs which are not identified and claimed will 
need to be funded from the normal service budgets or established earmarked 
reserves.  Claims submitted to date to Welsh Government, and the outcome of 
these claims, are shown in Table 2. 

 
Table 2 – Covid-19 expenditure claims for Quarter 1 2021-22 

Specific Hardship Fund 
Claimed 

£’000 
Paid 
£’000 

On hold/ 
pending 
review 
£’000 

Disallowed 
£’000 

General 121 100 20 1 

Homelessness 1,236 9 1,227 0 

Free School Meals 0 0 0 0 

Schools 202 168 134 0 

Adult Social Services 1,120 275 845 0 

Self Isolation Payments (SIP)/ Statutory 
Sick Pay Enhancements (SSP) 56 56 0 0 

Total 2,736 608 2,127 1 

Page 13



 
4.1.8  The disallowed expenditure relates to reimbursement of costs incurred by the 

Council in relation to ongoing home working arrangements.  Whilst the WG 
hardship panel agreed that these costs may be additional and not within the 
council’s financial plans, they also felt that having such assets in place provides 
longer term benefits to local authorities.  A contribution of 50% has therefore been 
agreed across Wales toward these costs.  The majority of the claims, £2.127 
million, are on hold/pending review with more detailed information requested by WG 
to substantiate items on hold.  As there is no certainty at the time of writing this 
report in relation to the outcome of the items placed on hold, the reimbursement of 
costs has not been assumed in the quarter 1 projections. 
 

4.1.9 The Council has been requested to submit a claim for loss of income to the Welsh 
Government for the first quarter of 2021-22 on 23rd July 2021.  Therefore the 
outcome of any loss of income claims at the time of writing this report is unknown 
therefore the projections have excluded any anticipated support for loss of income. 

 
4.1.10 In addition to lost income from service provision, the Council is also likely to see 

a reduction in council tax income over the 2021-22 financial year as more people 
have suffered financial hardship through the pandemic and the furlough scheme 
comes to an end. Bridgend received £1.261 million from WG in 2020-21 in 
recognition of the reduced collection rates experienced by councils as a 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic.  A 1% reduction in the council tax 
income collection rate could result in an additional pressure to the Council of 
around £1 million.  It is too early to provide a realistic indication of projected 
council tax for this financial year, but it will be monitored continuously throughout 
the year and reported accordingly.  

 
4.1.11 Alongside the impact on Council Tax, the ending of the furlough scheme could 

also manifest itself in an increase in eligibility for council tax reduction support.  
Support of £325,469 from WG was provided in 2020-21 towards the increased 
demand due to the impact of Covid-19 on personal financial circumstances, 
however, no additional funding has yet been identified by Welsh Government for 
either reduced council tax income or increased council tax support. 

 
 Budget virements/technical adjustments 
 
4.1.12 There have been a number of budget virements and technical adjustments 

between budgets since the MTFS was approved by Council in February 2021. 
The budget position is reported on the assumption that these virements will be 
approved. The main virements and technical adjustments are outlined below: 

 
 Budget Virements 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of funding from the Communities Directorate to Chief 
Executive’s to provide financial project support on 
Regeneration schemes 

£60,000 

Transfer of funding from the Education and Family Support 
and Social Services and Wellbeing Directorates to the 
Communities Directorate for Corporate Landlord to manage 
the Eastern Hub premises based at Brynteg School 

£50,000 

 

Page 14



 Technical Adjustments 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of Real Living Wage uplifts to Directorate Budgets 
and school based staff that were held centrally until evidence 
was provided.  

£99,960 

Transfer of funding from Education and Family Support 
Directorate to the Individual Schools Budget in relation to the 
establishment of and ASD Class 

£34,260 

Transfer of funding to Levies budget for uplift to Glamorgan 
Archives facility 

£14,234 

 
 Pay/Price Inflation 
 
4.1.13 When the budget for 2021-22 was set, directorates were provided with funding 

for known pay and price inflation. The remaining provision was retained centrally 
within Council wide budgets, to be allocated as further information was known 
about specific contractual price increases e.g. for energy. We are currently in the 
process of gathering information about increased energy prices for 2021-22, and 
will amend budgets accordingly during the year. 

 
4.1.14 Inflationary pressures include those arising from specific contractual 

commitments and significant increases in staffing costs arising not only from the 
above inflation increases in the national living wage, but also the ongoing 
discussions regarding the pay claim for National Joint Council (NJC) workers, 
and the consultation on Teachers’ pay (current proposal is an increase of 
1.75%). There is a risk that there may not be sufficient funding available within 
these budgets for any unexpected major price inflation increases. Inflation rates 
have also fluctuated since the budget was set (CPI was 0.7% in February 2021 
and had increased to 2.1% by May 2021).  With the uncertainty around Brexit 
and Covid-19, and the possible economic fallout arising from these, the budget 
will need to be monitored closely during the remainder of the year.  

 
 Budget Reduction Proposals 
 
4.1.15 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation 

of the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, 
which amount to £1.760 million.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have 
been delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with 
identifying alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy 
management, or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. 

 
4.1.16 In February 2021 Council approved the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2021-

22 to 2024-25. This identified the need to develop recurrent budget reduction 
proposals, based on the most likely scenario, amounting to £22.095 million over the 
next four years.  Against that background it is essential that expenditure is kept 
within the overall approved budget and that longer term proposals continue to be 
developed so that the Council has as much flexibility as possible to meet the 
challenges which lie ahead. 

 
4.1.17 At year end consideration will be given to requests from directors to carry forward 

any planned directorate under spends for specific purposes into the following year, 
in line with the Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol, as long as these can be 

Page 15



met from within the Council’s cash limited budget for 2021-22. This is in line with the 
reports to Cabinet and Council on the MTFS, and the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules. Similarly, consideration will be given to any budget over spends to determine 
whether these should be carried forward as a first call on the directorate budget for 
the following year. Finally, outstanding prudential borrowing will be repaid, where 
possible, to reduce future capital financing charges. However, a decision will not be 
made until towards the end of the financial year when the overall outturn position is 
more definite.   

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
4.2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 22nd June 2021 on the Revenue Budget 

Outturn 2020-21. In the report it was highlighted that, for 2017-18 to 2019-20, there 
were £2.501 million of budget reduction proposals that were not met in full, with a 
total outstanding balance to be met of £709,000. In addition, of the 2020-21 budget 
reduction proposals of £2.413 million, it was reported that there was a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £342,000.  Directors have been asked to identify if 
any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 2021-22 
financial year, and to identify mitigating actions that will be undertaken to achieve 
them.  All remaining outstanding prior year budget reductions are summarised in 
Appendix 1 with a summary per directorate provided in Table 3.  

 
 Table 3 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 344 344 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 185 0 185 

Communities 1,847 1,772 125 

TOTAL 2,376 2,066 310 

 
 
4.2.2 Table 3 shows that of the £2.376 million outstanding reductions, £2.066 million is 

likely to be achieved in 2021-22 leaving a shortfall of £310,000. Proposals still not 
likely to be achieved include: 

 
o SSW19 – further review of HALO partnership contract in relation to taking 

over the management and payment of utility bills (£40,000).  Alternative 
savings are being developed as advice from VAT consultants resulted in this 
budget reduction proposal being unable to be progressed. 

o SSW20 – savings from library and cultural facilities (£70,000).  Covid-19 has 
impacted on the delivery of this saving and there is an ongoing impact on 

Page 16



these budgets in relation to income levels achieved.  Under spends are being 
held across the service area to mitigate any shortfall in the short term. 

o SSW27 – income generation from mobile response and telecare charging 
(£75,000).  Income levels have not increased to the level required to meet 
the budget reduction therefore the service area continues to seek to identify 
efficiencies to meet the shortfall in 2021-22. 

o COM19 – Streetworks review (£100,000) due to delays in approval process 
with Welsh Government.  The Highways network budget area is committed 
to stay within budget through the implementation phase. 

   
4.2.3 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget.  An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. During the financial year, the Section 
151 Officer will consider applications from Directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2021-22 
 
4.2.4 The budget approved for 2021-22 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£1.760 million, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 4 
below.  The current position is a projected shortfall on the savings target of £65,000, 
or 3.7% of the overall reduction target.  

 
 Table 4 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2021-22 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 116 116 0 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 315 315 0 

Communities 823 758 65 

Chief Executive's 130 130 0 

Council Wide Budgets 376 376 0 

TOTAL 1,760 1,695 65 

 
4.2.5 The most significant budget reduction proposal unlikely to be achieved in full is 

COM 2 – Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to Pyle 
resulting in cessation of lease payments at existing site (£60,000).  The new site in 
Pyle is not opening until October 2021 and both sites will be maintained until the 
new site is fully operational, therefore the saving will not be achieved in full until 
2022-23. 

Page 17



   
4.2.6 Appendix 2 identifies the projected amount of saving against these proposals in 

detail and action to be taken by the directorate to mitigate the shortfall. Directors 
continue to work with their staff to deliver their proposals or alternatives and this is 
reflected in the forecast outturn for the year. During the financial year the Section 
151 Officer will also consider applications from directorates to the MTFS Budget 
Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls.  

 
4.2.7 In the longer term, these proposals must be realised or must be met through 

alternative budget reduction proposals in order to deliver a balanced budget 
position. These will continue to be closely monitored and draw down from the MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve will be made as part of the overall review of 
earmarked reserves during quarter 2.  

 
4.3 Commentary on the financial position at 30th June 2021 
 

Financial position at 30th June 2021 
 
A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 
Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below.  

 
4.3.5 Education and Family Support Directorate 
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £127.092 million.  Current 
projections indicate an over spend of £771,000 at year end. The main variances 
are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Inclusion 2,574 3,357 783 30.4% 

Adult Learning 145 8 (137) -94.5% 

Corporate Health and Safety 388 319 (69) -17.8% 

 
Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 
Total funding delegated to schools in 2021-22 is £103.561 million. 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced as any under or over spend 
is automatically carried forward into the new financial year before being considered 
by the Corporate Director - Education and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance 
and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’.  

 
Total school balances increased by £8.382 million during 2020-21, to £8.490 million 
at year end. The main reason for the significant increase was additional schools 
revenue grant funding of £5.417 million announced late in 2020-21 and successful 
claims to the WG Hardship fund of £1.312 million in the final quarter of 2020-21.    
At the start of 2021-22, projections indicated an overall surplus balance for school 

Page 18



delegated budgets of £5.241 million at year end.  There are 8 primary schools 
(13.5% of all schools) projecting a deficit balance at year end.   

 
 Central Education and Family Support Budgets 

 
Inclusion 

 There is a projected over spend of £783,000 for Inclusion which primarily 
relates to the shortfall in recoupment income for other LA placements at 
Heronsbridge School and Ysgol Bryn Castell.  Whilst a budget pressure of 
£500,000 was agreed by Council as part of the MTFS in February 2021, there 
has been a further reduction in the number of other LA pupils in Bridgend 
schools.  Whilst there were 20 at the end of 2020-21 this has reduced to 16 with 
an expectation this will reduce further to 12 from the Autumn Term due to 
increased demand from BCBC pupils. 
 

Adult Learning 

 The projected under spend of £137,000 is primarily due to staff vacancies.  In 
addition there has been an increase of £63,500 to the Adult Community 
Learning Grant compared with 2020-21. 

 
Corporate Health and Safety 

 There is a projected under spend of £69,000 within Corporate Health and 
Safety which is due to staff vacancy management.  The service are actively 
recruiting to fill the vacant posts.  

 
4.3.6 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The Directorate’s net budget for 2021-22 is £74.023 million.  Current projections 
indicate an under spend of 647,000 at year end.  The main variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Adult Social Care 46,452 49,157 (295) -0.6% 

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,200 5,149 (51) -1.0% 

Childrens Social Care 19,371 19,070 (301) -1.6% 

 
Adult Social Care 
There is projected net under spend of £295,000 on the Adult Social Care budget.  
The most significant variances contributing to this projected over spend are:- 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

  £'000 

Older People Residential Care 324 

Care at Home for Older People (762) 

Assessment and Care Management (202) 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment 237 

Page 19



 
 

 Older People Residential Care – the projected over spend of 324,000 is due to 
increased placement costs and a reduction in personal contributions.  The 
position would improve if claims to the Covid Hardship Fund are successful 
(£301,000 successfully claimed in 2020-21). 

 Care at Home for Older People – this includes domiciliary care services, local 
authority homecare services and the provision of direct payments.   The 
projected under spend of £762,000 is primarily on the homecare budget due to 
staffing vacancies and delays in implementing a restructure due to Covid-19.  
The restructure is progressing in 2021-22. 

 Assessment and Care Management – there is a projected under spend of 
£202,000 across all service areas due to a continuing challenging recruitment 
environment.  Various recruitment activities have been actioned in order to fill 
vacant posts but appointments have been affected by Covid-19. 

 Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment – there is a projected net over spend of 
£237,000 within this service area.  There is a projected under spend on the 
Residential Care budget due to a reduction in placements (£155,000).  This is 
offset by the projected over spend of £272,000 on the equipment and 
adaptations budget as a result of increased demand due to Covid-19 with a 
view to keeping individuals in their home setting.  There is also a projected 
£195,000 over spend on the Home Care budget due primarily to increases in 
demand within Independent Domiciliary Care (£137,000) – an additional 8 
placements to date in 2021-22 has placed an additional pressure of £85,000.  

  
 

Prevention and Wellbeing 
 The projected under spend of £51,000 is primarily due maximisation of grant 

funding opportunities.  The projection does not include any estimate for a 
contribution to the Council’s leisure provider for the gross net loss of running the 
leisure services in 2021-22 due to Covid-19.  Claims will be made to the WG 
Hardship loss of income fund for the first six months of 2021-22.  Close 
monitoring of the impact of Covid-19 on leisure services beyond this point will 
be required and updates provided to Cabinet in future monitoring reports. 

 
Childrens Social Care 

 There is projected net under spend of £301,000 on the Childrens Social Care 
budget.  This primarily relates to a projected under spend on the Care 
Experienced Children budget of £310,000. 

 At the end of quarter 1 there are 6 children in independent residential 
placements (in and out of authority) and 2 in BCBC 39 week local authority 
education provision.  Two placements ceased during quarter 1, however it 
should be noted that this budget area can be volatile and small changes in 
demand can result in relatively high costs being incurred.  Additional 
placements have already been made since 30 June 2021 and searches are 
underway dye to high risk/complex cases with requirements for specialist 
provision.  The budget is being closely monitored to ensure that the current 
projected under spend is effectively managed.   

 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
 
 
4.3.7 Communities Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £28.159 million.  The current 
projection is an anticipated over spend of £624,000.  The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Waste Disposal & Collection 8,828 9,247 419 4.7% 

Fleet Services 15 215 200 1333.3% 

Highways Services  2,854 2,754 (100) -3.5% 

Parking Services -283 -66 217 -76.7% 

 
 Waste Disposal and Collection 

 There is a projected over spend of £419,000 on the Waste Disposal and 
Collection budget. £60,000 of this is due to the delay in the achievement of 
COM 2 - Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from Tythegston to Pyle 
resulting in cessation of lease payments at the existing site.  The new site is 
opening in October 2021 and both sites are being kept open until the new site is 
fully operational.  The balance of the over spend is due to continued increased 
tonnages of residual waste being experienced by the service.  Tonnages 
increased in 2020-21, primarily due to lockdowns and more residents working 
from home in general. £232,000 was successfully claimed from the Hardship 
Fund in 2020-21 and claims will continue to be submitted in 2021-22, therefore 
this projection could improve. 

 
 Fleet Services 

 There is a projected over spend of £200,000 on Fleet services.  The pandemic 
continues to impact on productivity rates, primarily due to social distancing 
requirements in the workplace.  Reduced spend will be projected on Hire and 
Servicing budgets across the service departments, and consideration will be 
given to re-aligning budgets on a temporary basis if this projection is maintained 
at quarter 2. 
 

 
Highways Services 

 The projected under spend of £100,000 within Highways Services is primarily 
due to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time to, the 
SALIX capital scheme to enable the replacement of street lighting with new 
energy efficient LED units.  This is not a recurring saving and is a reduced 
projection from the 2020-21 outturn of £244,000 as the SALIX Scheme will be 
ending in quarter 2 of 2021-22. 

 
Parking Services 

 There is a projected over spend on the parking services budget of £217,000.  
This is after taking into account a £35,000 contribution from the Covid Recovery 
fund – (see 4.1.6) to support the free car parking offer for town centres to the 

Page 21



end of May. The underlying shortfall is against the staff car park income budget 
(£180,000) with the ongoing working from home principle to be maintained in 
the majority of service areas for the full financial year. 

 
 
4.3.8 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2021-22 is £21.364 million.  Current 
projections anticipate an over spend against this budget of £156,000.  The main 
variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  

Finance 3,695 3,578 (117) -3.2% 

HR and Organisational Development 1,912 1,801 (111) -5.8% 

Partnerships 2,034 1,814 (220) -10.8% 

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 4,929 5,199 270 5.5% 

ICT 3,752 4,092 340 9.1% 

Housing & Homelessness 3,354 3,256 (98) -2.9% 

 
Finance 

 There is a projected under spend of £117,000 which is primarily due to staffing 
vacancies as the service is currently going through a restructure.  The structure 
is anticipated to have been populated by the second half of the 2021-22 
financial year. 

 
HR and Organisational Development 

 There is a projected under spend of £111,000.  This primarily relates to staffing 
and apprenticeship vacancies, however HR are actively recruiting to fill, or have 
already filled these vacancies. 

 
Partnerships 

 This service areas includes Transformation, Partnerships and Customer 
Services & Engagement.  The projected under spend of £220,000 is primarily 
due to staff vacancies.  Various recruitment activities have been actioned in 
order to fill vacant posts but appointments have been affected by Covid-19.  

 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

 There is a projected over spend of £270,000.  This is primarily due to lower than 
forecast levels of income received for registrars, land charges, licencing fees 
and public health fees.  Claims will be made to the Hardship Fund for the first 
six months of 2021-22 so this projection could improve in future budget 
monitoring reports if the claims prove to be successful. 

 
ICT 

 There is a projected net over spend of £340,000 across ICT budgets.  Due to 
reduced printing activity ICT have been unable to cover the fixed costs of 
printers and photocopiers through the recharge to service departments.  
Consequently, reduced spend will have been incurred on printing budgets 

Page 22



across the service departments and included in the projections for individual 
service areas.  Given the ongoing working from home principle for the 
remainder of the 2021-22 financial year, an exercise will be undertaken to re-
align budgets before the end of quarter 2. 

 
Housing & Homelessness 

 There is a projected under spend of £98,000 on Housing & Homelessness 
which is primarily due to staffing vacancies.  The service are actively recruiting 
to fill the vacant posts. 

 Budget growth of £2.192 million was approved by Council as part of the MTFS 
Budget setting process in February 2021 to continue the commitment to focus 
support for homeless individuals providing them with accommodation.  The 
budget was approved prior to confirmation from WG that the Covid Hardship 
Fund was to be extended for the first six months of 2021-22.  Table 2 sets out 
that claims of £1.236 million have been submitted to the Hardship Fund to date 
in 2021-22 and of these £1.227 are pending review.  If these claims are 
successful, this will significantly improve the projections for Housing in this 
financial year.  

 
4.3.9 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The budget for 2021-22 is £48.318 
million.  The current projections show a break-even position on Council wide 
budgets. 

 
 As referred to in paragraph 4.1.14, the ongoing discussions regarding the pay claim 

for National Joint Council (NJC) workers and the consultation on Teachers’ pay 
(current proposal is an increase of 1.75%), the risk of unexpected major price 
inflation increases along with the uncertainty of Brexit and Covid-19 at this point in 
the financial year, it is prudent to assume that all Council wide budgets will be fully 
spent by the year end. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 That the Committee is requested to: 
 

 note the projected revenue position for 2021-22. 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
July 2021 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 
   Interim Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 
 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

     MTFS Report to Council – 24 February 2021 

Page 24

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

21-22           

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2021-22 to achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1      

(2017-18)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
20 20

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS2          

(2017-18)
School transport route efficiencies. 40 40

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS1      

(2018-19)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 67

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS27      

(2018-19)

Review arrangements for Special Schools Home to School 

Transport with a view to achieving efficiency savings
75 75

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS 1      

(2019-20)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 67

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

EFS 1      

(2020-21)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
75 75

A Budget Pressure was approved by 

Council as part of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-

25 in February 2021.  

The budget growth is a one-off pressure for 2021-22.  

In September 2020 Cabinet determined not to accept 

the recommendation to amend the Learner Travel 

Policy to meet statutory distances, including removal 

of eligibility for nursery and Post-16 pupils.  The Welsh 

Government review of eligibility and statutory 

distances is yet to report which may impact provision 

in future.

Total Education & Family Support Directorate 344 344

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW19

Further review of HALO partnership contract, including the 

Council taking over the management and payment of utility 

bills currently incurred by HALO.  This will result in VAT 

efficiencies for HALO and contribute towards the reduction in 

the management fee

40 0

Detailed discussions and advice 

received from VAT consultants 

resulted in this budget reduction 

proposal not being able to be 

progressed.

Alternative savings are being developed and will be 

reported as part of the Budget Monitoring 2021-22 

Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast report to Cabinet

SSW20

Identify further savings from library and cultural facilities and  

related services including reviewing  the numbers of facilities 

(libraries, community centres) and also reductions in services 

or opening hours.

70 0
Covid-19 has impacted on the 

delivery of this saving.

Close monitoring of the Leisure Services budgets will 

be required in 2021-22 to determine the potential for 

the Covid-19 pandemic to continue to impact on 

income levels achieved.  Underspends will be held 

across the service area to mitigate any shortfalls in the 

short term.

SSW27
Increase income generation from mobile response and 

telecare charging
75 0

Income levels have not increased to 

meet the required budget reduction 

proposal.

Service area continues to seek to identify efficiencies 

to meet the shortfall in 2021-22.

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 185 0

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2021-22

Page 25



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

21-22           

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2021-22 to achieve

COMMUNITIES

COM19     

(2017-18)

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

The Streetworks Review is due to be 

submitted shortly to WG for their final 

comments for approval before steps 

can be taken towards 

implementation.

The Highways network budget area is committed to 

stay within budget through the implementation phase 

with full savings anticipated in 2022-23.

COM 4    

(2019-20)

Review of School Crossing Patrol service in line with GB 

standards
10 10

Budget re-alignment actioned within 

Traffic & Transport budgets in 2021-

22.

No action required.  Budget re-alignment actioned in 

2021-22.

COM 26     

(2019-20)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

5 5 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22
No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM 52 

(2019-20)

Reductions to the budget for the Materials Recovery and 

Energy Centre (MREC) to be achieved through the current 

procurement being undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC 

for the provision of new operator arrangements for the MREC 

facility at Crumlyn Burrows

1,300 1,300

A Budget Pressure of £300,000 

representing the shortfall for this 

Budget Reduction proposal was 

approved by Council as part of the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2021-22 to 2024-25 in February 2021. 

None required - historic shortfall in savings target 

addressed through a Council approved budget 

pressure

COM 55     

(2019-20)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 25 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM 26     

(2020-21)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

18 18 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22
No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM51

The savings will be delivered in a number of ways including 

operational efficiencies, streamlined business processes, IT 

investment, improved procurement and contract 

management, and some deletions of vacant posts.

350 325
Level of savings identified as at 30 

June 2021.

Service area continues to identify efficiencies to meet 

the shortfall in 2021-22.

COM 55     

(2020-21)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 25 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

COM96
WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital contribution 

from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle to collect AHP recycling
14 14 Saving achieved in full in 2021-22

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2021-22.

Total Communities Directorate 1,847 1,722

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 2,376 2,066

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 310

Page 26



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS2
Removal of a vacant post within Cognition and 

Learning Team

Potential reduction in support for a vulnerable group, however it is 

anticipated that this has been mitigated by a change in working 

practices by the team as a result of the ALN reform

61 61 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

EFS3

Reconfiguration of the team providing support to 

Gypsy, Roma and Traveller learners to create a 

more efficient service

Whilst the impact is more on the management and leadership of the 

team, this may result in some slight reduction in the service offered 

to this vulnerable group but there will still be a service offering 

support

50 50 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

EFS4
Reduction in Central South Consortium (CSC) 

Budget of 1%

Reduction is achievable within the overall CSC budget and will be 

mainly achieved through efficiency savings
5 5 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Education and Family Support 116 116

SSW1
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
90 90 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

SSW2

Across Adults and Children's services embed 

and consolidate outcome focussed practice and 

commissioning for all service areas

This will support people to live their lives and will require our systems 

to be adapted to support the changes in practice.  There will be a 

shift to embed outcome focussed practice which will have a focus on 

targeted prevention initiatives and by developing collaborative, long 

term relationships with providers as well as maximising the 

opportunities of the use of technology.  this will be underpinned by 

planning accommodation, care and support together and listening to 

people who are experts in their own lives and acting upon what will 

make a difference.

225 225 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

315 315Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 27



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COMMUNITIES

COM1

Transfer of pitches/pavilions through 

Community Asset Transfer.  Increased charges 

for end-users to achieve full cost recovery for 

pitches/pavilions that do not transfer.  Reduction 

of grass cut areas and areas within maintained 

parkland.

The savings identified will see the removal of the remaining seasonal 

operatives' budget with corresponding cuts to plant, equipment and 

materials.  Where asset transfers occur the respective club (rugby, 

football, bowls and cricket etc) will be expected to fully fund the 

ongoing maintenance of the asset.  The remaining parks budget will 

be used to maintain the Council's main parks, including children's 

play areas, highway grass cutting which is safety related, and to 

secure the ongoing site management and safety of the sites that will 

remain in Council ownership.  the level of funding will also dictate the 

standard of open space maintenance and may result in a further 

reduction of grass cut areas if the proposed savings are not 

forthcoming through the asset transfer process.

300 300

The full saving in 2021-22 has been achieved as 

the seasonal operative budget has been capped 

at a level to ensure the Parks and Playing Fields 

expenditure does not exceed available budget.  

Successful CAT transfers have taken place to 

date, and will continue to be progressed by the 

CAT Officer.

COM2

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre 

from Tythegston to Pyle resulting in cessation of 

lease payments at existing site

Construction of the new site will mean that this saving will not be 

effective until 2021/22
60 0

Delay due to new site not opening until October 

2021 and the need to keep both sites open until 

new site is fully operational.

COM5
The lease for Sunnyside House expires on 

31/03/21 - savings will be made from this date.

No impact on service provision
309 309 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

COM6

One off capital payment for the fire suppression 

system required at Tondu.  Revenue cost of 

system is included in the annual contract price 

with Kier.

Minimal impact.  The fire system will be provided and if paid from the 

Capital Asset Management Fund as opposed to the revenue budget, 

the £60K per annum can be saved.

60 60 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

COM7

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle 

to collect AHP recycling

A Contract Variation will be progressed with Kier to achieve the 

saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in relation to 

the current AHP vehicle that is leased.

19 14
New vehicle purchased part-way through 2021-

22 therefore only partial saving achieved.

COM8

Reduction to energy budget for Street Lighting - 

savings due to replacement with more efficient 

LED

Reduction will have limited impact 75 75 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Communities Directorate 823 758

P
age 28



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 Reduction of the ICT Telephony Budget No impact on the communications infrastructure and maintenance 41 41 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CEX2 Reduction of HR Staffing Budget
Reduction of a post and increased workload.  Where possible 

savings will be made from vacant posts.
24 24 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CEX3 Reduction of Finance staffing budgets

Reduction in capacity across the finance service following proposed 

restructure, which could impact on time taken to undertake functions.  

Will endeavour to make savings from vacant posts where possible 

and/or offset with digital solutions.

65 65 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 130 130

P
age 29



MONITORING OF 2021-22 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2021-22    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD1
Reduction in insurance budget through on-going 

efficiencies in managing the insurance contract.

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years.

75 75 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CWD2
Savings on building maintenance prudential 

borrowing budget

No impact - capital financing budget was utilised in 2019-20 to pay 

off prudential borrowing associated with Minor Works with a long 

term cost saving benefit for the Council.

120 120 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

CWD3

Reduce provision made for pay and prices 

following Chancellor's announcement of pay 

freeze, and lower than anticipated current 

inflation rate.

Impact will need to be kept under review, and may be risk depending 

on final pay awards agreed and inflation increases during the year.
181 181 Full saving should be achieved in 2021-22

Total Corporate / Council Wide 376 376

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 1,760 1,695

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 65

740 1,681

795 19

225 60

1,760 1,760

P
age 30



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 30TH JUNE 2021

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Projected 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 124,863         (21,302)     103,561   103,561        -                  0.0%

Learning 9,912            (2,398)       7,514       8,309           795                  10.6%

Strategic Partnerships & Comm 25,768           (10,139)     15,629     15,674         45                    0.3%

Health and Safety 390               (2)              388          319             (69)                   -17.7%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 160,933         (33,841)     127,092   127,863       771                  0.6%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 68,585           (19,133)     49,452     49,157         (295)                 -0.6%

Prevention and Wellbeing 6,030            (830)          5,200       5,149           (51)                   -1.0%

Childrens Social Care 20,428           (1,057)       19,371     19,070         (301)                 -1.6%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 95,043           (21,020)     74,023     73,376         (647)                 -0.9%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 2,075            (1,523)       552          552              -                  0.0%

Strategic Regeneration 2,032            (352)          1,680       1,680            -                  0.0%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 6,920            (5,635)       1,285       1,285            -                  0.0%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 12,357           (1,555)       10,802     11,201         399                  3.7%

Highways and Green Spaces 23,028           (12,147)     10,881     11,068         187                  1.7%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 268                -           268          268              -                  0.0%

Corporate Landlord 13,916           (11,225)     2,691       2,729           38                    1.4%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 60,596           (32,437)     28,159     28,783         624                  2.2%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive Unit 579                -           579          569             (10)                   -1.7%

Finance 46,667           (42,972)     3,695       3,578           (117)                 -3.2%

HR/OD 2,248            (336)          1,912       1,801           (111)                 -5.8%

Partnerships 2,880            (846)          2,034       1,814           (220)                 -10.8%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,907            (978)          4,929       5,199           270                  5.5%

Elections 153               (49)            104          146             42                    40.4%

ICT 5,029            (1,277)       3,752       4,092           340                  9.1%

Housing & Homelessness 10,773           (7,419)       3,354       3,256           (98)                   -2.9%

Business Support 1,116            (111)          1,005       1,065           60                    6.0%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 75,352           (53,988)     21,364     21,520         156                  0.7%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 391,924         (141,286)   250,638   251,542       904                  0.4%

Council Wide Budgets 49,288           (970)          48,318     48,318          -                  0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          441,212    (142,256)    298,956        299,860                   904 0.3%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2021-22

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO THE CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

1 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE  
AND CHANGE  

 
REVIEW OF BUDGET RESEARCH AND EVALUATION PANEL  
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Committee with an update regarding the 

review of the role of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP), for 
consideration. 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The purpose of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel, previously agreed by 

Council on 6 September 2017, is to: 
 
a) Achieve consensus on the direction of the budget over the life of the medium 

term financial strategy; 
 

b) Achieve a detailed overview and assessment of the budget proposals where 
the expertise and knowledge of each Committee contributes to a Corporate 
understanding and appreciation of the draft budget proposals; 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



 

c) Assist the Council to develop a budget for the forthcoming year that aims to 
meet the needs of the communities of Bridgend County Borough; 
 

d) Facilitate firmer understanding of the budget setting process and the draft 
proposals in order to assist the Committees in making informed comments, 
constructive challenge or recommendations to Cabinet as part of the budget 
consultation process. 

 
3.2 At the meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 1 February 2021 

the Committee made a number of recommendations regarding the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25, including the following:  
 
“Recommendation 4: 
The Committee recommended that Corporate Management Board and Cabinet are 
requested to review and define what the role and responsibility of BREP is and 
respond to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny to consider.” 

 

3.3 The recommendations were reported to the meeting of Cabinet held on 9 February 
2021, presented by the Chair of this Committee who advised that it was felt 
worthwhile revisiting the role and remit of BREP, in order to see whether or not any 
improvements could be made to the manner in which it functioned, bearing in mind 
that the role of the Panel had been last reviewed in 2017.  
 

3.4 The Cabinet agreed to consider the Committee’s recommendations in response to 
the MTFS 2021-22 to 2024-25 and the Draft Budget Consultation Process and 
comments upon these would be included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
report to be considered by Cabinet and Council. 
 

3.5 The following response from the Cabinet was reported to the meeting of Cabinet 
held on 23 February 2021, and to the meeting of Council held on 24 February 2021: 
 
“Agreed.  

 
The role and functions of BREP and the membership are clearly set out in the 
Terms of Reference for the Panel. This is agreed at the start of the meeting cycle. 
However, it is an opportune time to review whether these remain fit for purpose and 
if they enable BREP to deliver on the outcomes expected.  

 
Cabinet and the Corporate Management Board will assist COSC in undertaking a 
review of BREP.” 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 

4.1 At the first meeting of BREP this year held on 14 July 2021, the Interim Chief 
Officer, Finance, Performance and Change presented some principles around the 
role and operation of the BREP following discussions with Cabinet and Corporate 
Management Board, to facilitate a discussion with BREP, and these are 
summarised below:   

 

 Ensure that the 4 key functions set out in the Terms of Reference outlined in 
paragraph 3.1 above are delivered, reflecting that purpose in the operation of 
the Committee. 

Page 34



 

 

 Take a consistent challenging approach to achieving the objectives. 
 

 Have innovation at the centre of its work.  
 

 BREP process is central to the scrutiny of the MTFS – Scrutiny Committees are 
responsible for scrutinising Directorate proposals with outcome being reviewed 
and deliberated at BREP.  
 

 Need to make a difference by assisting in finding proposals and solutions.  
 

 Chair has a key role in setting the agenda, controlling discussions and making 
recommendations.  
 

 The Panel needs to explore high value budgets and high cost services and 
could take evidence and thoughts from witnesses from a wider circle.  
 

 Focus on Corporate responsibility and not get distracted into ‘ward’ issues.  
 

 Add value that is not provided elsewhere.  
 

 Does the Panel wants to do some ‘task and finish’ pieces of work in more detail 
to inform the process.  

 

 Ensure that BREP is adequately resourced if any responsibility or functions 
change e.g. task and finish groups. 
 

 Ensure that Cabinet give due consideration to proposals made by BREP on a 
timely basis and that recommendations are implemented – review action plan 
regularly. 

 
  
4.2 Members of BREP discussed the paper and made the following comments: 
 

- Members could look at deep dives into the areas of most concern in terms of the 
financial affairs of the council. 

 
- There was a role for BREP going forward and it had worked well in the past. It 

was really important to have cross-party attendance and for each BREP 
member to take part and contribute. Members should be looking at wider budget 
issues, not just proposals put forward. 

 
- BREP fostered a collaborative forum for in-depth discussion but needed to take 

that forward.  Once Members had discussed a financial issue, recommendations 
could be passed on, actioned and feedback on those actions and outputs 
provided.  

 

- There had been interesting and useful discussions, in the past which helped to 
shape the budget position going forward.   

 

Page 35



 

- The need to remain corporate and strategic, regarding big strategic decisions, 
which impacted on the budget.  There was room for improved synergy between 
BREP and the formal scrutiny process and suggestion that after a particular 
work item, recommendations could feed into the formal scrutiny process. 

 
- The importance of BREP considering its business in a non-partisan and non-

political way prior to the debate about the budget. 
 

- Scrutiny Committees’ work programmes were already quite full but it was 
important that scrutiny of the individual parts of the budget were programmed 
into the 3 Scrutiny Committees in order for their findings to feed into BREP. 

 
- Agreement with the view that this needed to be approached from a corporate 

whole council perspective.  
 

- Assistance from BREP could be sharpened to be challenging on some of the 
key strategic aims and areas of the budget and make proposals. 

 
4.4 At the second meeting of BREP held on 13 August 2021, the Interim Chief Officer, 

Finance, Performance and Change reminded Members of their discussions in the 
July meeting regarding the working of BREP which Members had been in 
agreement with, and that the recommendation was that a report would be presented 
to COSC on 1 September 2021. 

 
4.5 A Member of BREP asked that the disappointment that so few members had been 

in attendance for the second meeting of BREP, despite it being one of the key 
actions agreed, be recorded.  Members agreed they wanted to strengthen 
attendance and participation as the remit was a priority matter and agreed that 
strengthening attendance should be included in this report. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no effect upon policy framework and procedure rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales,  

with 5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report: 

 
 

Page 36



 

 Long-term - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the  
budget setting process for both the short-term and in the long-
term. 

 

 Prevention - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the 
budget setting process by approving and shaping preventative 
measures provided by Directorates to generate savings. 

 

 Integration - The report supports all the well-being objectives. 
 

 Collaboration - The consideration and approval of this report will assist in the     
budget setting process by approving and shaping collaboration 
and integrated working to generate savings. 
 

 Involvement -  Publication of the report ensures that the public and  
stakeholders can review the work that has been undertaken by 
Scrutiny members. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The report relates to the budget setting process and the financial implications 

associated with that. There are no financial implications directly associated with this 
report. 
 

9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 The Committee is requested to consider the report and endorse the review of the role 

of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP). 
 

 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
25 August 2021 

 
 

Contact officer: Gill Lewis - Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
 
Telephone:   01656 643643 
 
Email:   Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, 

Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background Documents: None 

Page 37

mailto:Gill.Lewis@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO THE CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

1 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee, the Director of Social 

Services’ draft Annual Report for 2020/21 for comment and request that Members 
note the assessments reached locally about social care services in Bridgend.   

 
1.2 This is the eleventh Annual Report of the Director of Social Services and is based on 

the Authority’s self-assessment of the performance and delivery of social care 
services over a two year period 2019/20 and 2020/21.  The draft report is attached at 
Appendix 1. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 Following the implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) developed a new performance framework which aims 
to ensure that authorities are inspected using the well-being outcomes of the 
Act.  The Act has two key policy objectives: 

 

 To improve the well-being outcomes for people who need care and support 
and 

 To reform social services law. 
 

It seeks to: 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 

 Transform the way in which social services are delivered, primarily through 
promoting people’s independence and giving them a stronger voice and 
control;  

 Promote partnership working in social care;  

 Enhance the preventative role of social care and health, setting out 
overarching well-being duties to reduce or delay the need for care and support. 

 
3.2 The CIW framework provides the foundations of the Council’s duty to report on the 

whole circle of care from commissioning, contracting, assessment, care management 
to service provision.  

 
3.3 The methodology for the core programme for local authority inspection is built around 

the quality standards for local authority social services, issued under the Code of 
Practice, to measure social services’ performance. These standards, in turn, reflect 
the national outcomes framework. The approach to inspection, engagement and 
performance review is similarly focused on outcomes, with an emphasis on engaging 
with people to learn about their experiences and listen to their views. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, places strong emphasis on 

promoting the well-being of people who need care and support and carers who need 
support. It is important that the views and voices of people and their carers are heard. 
  

4.2 The aim of this report is to provide the Council and people living in Bridgend County 
Borough with an overview of social care.  It aims to highlight the progress made over 
a two year period 2019/20 and 2020/21 and to identify priorities for 2021/22. The 
report for this period also takes into account the impact the Covid-19 pandemic has 
had on the work of the social services and wellbeing directorate and the services it 
provides to vulnerable citizens in the county borough. 

 
4.3 The preparation of the report involved an analysis, based on evidence, of the services 

that are provided.  Staff across the services have contributed to the development of 
this report and there is much evidence within it of feedback from people who use 
social services and carers together with feedback from partners in the third sector.   
 

4.4 The guidance for the report sets out the sections in relation to the six national quality 
standards for well-being.  They are: 

 Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that 
people want to achieve; 

 Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and 
mental health and emotional well-being; 

 Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm; 

 Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society; 

 Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 
personal relationships; 

 Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, to 
have a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs. 

 
4.5 The report has sections on all of the above with hyperlinks to relevant reports and 

documents to evidence progress. 
 

Page 40



 

4.6 The report provides a summary of the main achievements in 2019/20 and 2020/21 
taking into account the challenges faced during the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
references areas where progress has been delayed, or priorities needed to change 
as a consequence of the unprecedented global pandemic.  The report also highlights 
the priorities for social services in 2021/22.  The analysis draws on progress against 
the business plans, performance data for each service area in both adults’ and 
children’s social care, as well as feedback from people, carers and staff.   
 

4.7 The report demonstrates that despite the challenges of the pandemic we have 
continued to progress key service developments and improvements, and have 
continued to be effective in supporting those who need care and support. The report 
also identifies areas where improvement is needed and the most significant risks and 
challenges facing us going forward, and these are detailed in the priorities for 
2021/22.  
 

4.8 This report acknowledges the immense impact of the whole Council, our partners in 
BAVO, Shared Regulatory Services, Public Health Wales, Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
University Health Board, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region, our cultural and leisure 
partners; Halo and Awen, and the whole social care sector over the last two years. 
 

CIW Performance Review    

 

4.9 In November 2021 a full regulatory inspection was undertaken of the council’s 
domiciliary care services.  This inspection was a very positive reflection on the 
service.  

 

4.10 In April 2021 CIW carried out an assurance check of how well we had ensured the 
safety and well-being of people who use or may need to use services, the safety of 
services they access, and the safety and well-being of people who work in those 
services. Overall CIW found that the local authority had made clear its strategic and 
operational intent to support vulnerable young people, adults and carers throughout 
the Covid-19 pandemic. The assurance check will be published by an annex to a 
national overview report in October 2021 and CIW has given permission for their 
findings to be referred to in the annual report. 
 
Priorities for 2021/22  

 
4.11 There are some whole service priorities and then more specific priorities for Adult 

Social Care and Children’s Social Care.  The Directorate will implement the actions 
as set out in the 2021-22 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate Business Plan. 
The 8 highest priorities for social services and wellbeing in 2021/22 are as follows:  

 
 Ensure the rights of the people we work with and for drive everything we do 

through enhancing participation, engagement and involvement in every aspect of 
our work. This will include the development of a new strategy for Care 
Experienced Children which reflects what is important to them from the Council 
and partners as corporate parents. 

 Lead the whole social care workforce in Bridgend to ensure a motivated, engaged 
and supported workforce, ensuring that Bridgend can retain and recruit a 
workforce with the right values as well as skills to make a difference to the lives 
of people with care and support needs. In achieving this priority we commit to 
taking the necessary actions to address the challenges we face in retaining and 

Page 41



 

recruiting children’s social workers and addressing the challenges we face in 
recruiting care workers in the Council and across the social care sector. 

 Commission strength based, outcome focussed, flexible social care services 
which are value for money and sustainable, including: the recommissioning of 
quality, sustainable care and support at home services for adults, a market 
stability plan for adult care homes, the continued remodelling and development of 
accommodation, care and support services for children and young people, the 
development of an accommodation, care and support strategy for older people, 
and the continued development of community based supported living and day 
opportunities for people with learning disabilities. 

 To lead safeguarding and protection of children and adults at risk in Bridgend, 
implementing the new Corporate Safeguarding Policy across the Council, and 
working with partners in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board 
to ensure the lessons from child and adult practice reviews are learned and 
embedded in the way we work. 

 To strategically lead integrated health, social care and wellbeing with Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Bridgend Integrated Locality Group, ensuring there are service and 
financial sustainability plans for delivering an optimal, community cluster model to 
care and support people through a ‘team around the person’ which ensures multi 
disciplinary teams work together with care providers and third sector partners to 
support people to remain as independent as possible in their homes and 
communities. 

 Build on the considerable success on third sector support to the vulnerable during 
the pandemic to develop alternative delivery models which achieve sustainable 
community development and resilient, connected communities. 

 To continue to develop strength based practice in adult and children’s services so 
practitioners are supported through a systemic framework for understanding 
personal and community strengths, working expertly with people to resolve 
challenges using their own capabilities and resources. 

 To ‘shift the balance of care’ working closely with preventative services in 
Education and Family Support and Wellbeing, and in so doing provide the right 
set of evidence based interventions and opportunities which will reduce the 
number of people who can only live the lives they want to live through accessing 
statutory social care services.  We will evidence progress in this area through 
safely reducing the number of children who are care experienced and safely 
reducing the number of adults who can only live safely in a registered care home 
setting. 

 
4.12 There are additional specific priorities identified at the end of each section in the body 

of the report.  
 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no impact on the Policy Framework and Procedure Rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 

Page 42



 

unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. As indicated above, the views 
of people with protected characteristics have been sought in the production of the 
report and the priorities reflect what people say matters to them. 

        
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 

Well-being Act (Wales) (SSWBA) 2014, in turn, supports the promotion of two of the 
seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the 
County Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s 
physical and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and 
their carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, 
the well-being goals of a Healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are 
supported. 

 
7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report: 

 

 Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the SSWBA focusses on 
sustainable prevention and well-being outcomes for the future. There is a 
requirement to meet the needs of people in the longer term and, because of 
rising demographics and increasing complexity, the continued remodelling and 
transformation of services continues to be a priority.   

 Prevention – the report is about the new approaches adopted by the 
Directorate in line with the SSWBA, for example, the provision of information, 
advice and assistance to enable people to remain independent for as long as 
possible.  This will ensure that need is anticipated and resources can be more 
effectively directed to better manage demand. 

 Integration – the implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to 
work with partners, particularly the NHS and the Police, to ensure care and 
support for people and support for carers is provided.  The report evidences 
work with the Third Sector, enabling people to remain linked to communities, 
and work with young people to enable access to employment. 

 Collaboration – The collaborative approaches described in the report, are 
managed and monitored through various remodelling and collaborative 
boards, for example, the Cwm Taf Morganwg Regional Partnership Board 
(RPB) where there is cross sector stakeholder representation at both political 
and Officer level.  The strategic planning and local delivery of integrated 
support and services are developed and agreed at a regional basis in order to 
provide the best possible intervention to people. 

 Involvement – the key stakeholders are the people who use social care. There 
is considerable engagement including surveys, stakeholder meetings, and 
focus groups, feedback forms and the social services complaints and 
compliments process. The provision of accessible information and advice 
helps to ensure that the voice of adults, children and young people is heard. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 

Page 43



 

8.1 Whilst there are no direct financial implications from this report, the service  pressures 
social services are experiencing as a consequence of the impact on people’s needs 
for care and support due to the impact of the pandemic do have financial implications. 
The need to address workforce challenges to meet those needs may also have 
financial consequences which present a challenge to the Council given the many 
pressures in other services and the underlying service financial deficits. Many 
services which are so important to people are underpinned by significant short term 
grant funding which presents a risk in terms of sustainability. 
 

9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that the Committee considers the content of the Director of Social 

Services’ draft Annual Report for 2020/21 and provides feedback to be considered 
before the final report is presented to Council. 

 
Claire Marchant 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
August 2021 

 
Contact officer:  Claire Marchant 

 Corporate Director, Social Services and Wellbeing 
 
Telephone:   (01656) 642251 
 
Email:   claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Postal address:  Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

 
 
Background documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

mailto:claire.marchant@bridgend.gov.uk


SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING DIRECTORATE

Director of Social Services Annual Report 
2019/20  &  2020/21

Bridgend County Borough Council

Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr

Page 45



Director of Social Care and Wellbeing

1) Director’s introduction

2) How are people shaping our services

3) Promoting the well-being of those we help

 Prevention and Wellbeing

 Childrens Social Care

 Adult Social Care

4) Inspection feedback

5) How we do what we do

 Our workforce and how we support their professional roles 

 Our financial resources and how we plan for the future

 Our partnership working, political and corporate leadership, 

governance and accountability

Table of Contents

Page 46



Director’s Introduction

A year like no other!

This is my first annual report as Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing

in Bridgend, having commenced working in the County Borough in October 2020.

What a time to come into post! I must start by paying a huge tribute to my

predecessor, Susan Cooper, who was corporate director for most of the period

covered by this report. Strong value driven leadership over many years meant that I

am in the fortunate position of building on many strengths, and in some areas leading

edge practice, which have made such a positive difference to the lives of the people

of Bridgend County Borough. The Bridgend Social Services and Wellbeing team are

experienced, professional, highly motivated and importantly have the right value

base. We are here to do what matters to the people we work with and for. Our

workforce at all levels have risen to every considerable challenge which the last year

has presented us with.

The production of an annual report to the Council is one of the most important

statutory duties of a Director of Social Services. The Director must set out a clear and

evidenced analysis of the effectiveness of social services, highlighting what we have

done well and what we could do better, and the most significant risks we face. Social

services is a large and important part of any Council’s business. A significant

proportion of Bridgend County Borough Council’s (the Council) budget is invested in

the services which support the most vulnerable children, families, adults and carers.

The Council is responsible for assessing needs, safeguarding and protecting people

as well as providing or securing services for children and adults with care and support

needs. The Council is a corporate parent to a growing number of children and care

experienced adults. The Council works with partners to establish a wide range of

preventative and well-being approaches as well as social care services. Preventative

services and community groups, clubs and assets mean many children and adults

with care and support needs are able to live well and all do what matters to them in

their own lives, often without accessing social care services even if they are at risk of

needing to.

This report covers the period April 2019 to March 2021. The Covid-19 pandemic

dominated all aspects of life from March 2020 onwards. Social services and wellbeing

has been fundamental to the public services response to the virus in Bridgend,

keeping people as safe, well and as connected as possible in the most extreme of

circumstances. Whilst this report is a statutory report on the effectiveness of social

services it acknowledges that only through ‘exceptional partnership’, the phrase used

by CIW in their quality assurance check in April 2021, can we impact as we need to

on people’s life.

3Page 47



Director’s Introduction  (cont…)

This report acknowledges the immense impact of the whole Council, our partners in

BAVO, Shared Regulatory Services, Public Health Wales, Cwm Taf Morgannwg

University Health Board, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region, our cultural and leisure

partners; Halo and Awen, and the whole social care sector- including our foster and

connected person family carers, our care homes, supported living providers,

domiciliary care providers. We are stronger together in supporting the most

vulnerable children and adults in Bridgend. It is been humbling and a privilege to work

with such committed partners.

Whilst all of our lives have been impacted so significantly by the public health crisis

we have lived through, the lives of people with care and support needs, their family

and friend carers, have been impacted more; many have shielded from the virus and

have not had access for long periods of time to the services that matter to them. The

medium and longer term impacts on physical and mental health are only now starting

to be understood. However, amongst all these challenges, there have been many,

many positives with new relationships formed, creative and innovative solutions

developed, and the value of social care more widely understood by all in society.

Social care, and the impact it has on people’s lives, has been celebrated as never

before during the pandemic. We have the opportunity to build on this positivity, whist

acknowledging and planning for the significant challenges that are arising in the

short, medium and longer term as a consequence of the crisis. We anticipated, and

already are seeing an increased need for social care services. We are seeing the

impact of the extended lockdown on our most vulnerable children and families, as

well as adults with care and support needs.

Covid-19 impacted disproportionately on the people and communities of Bridgend

and our most vulnerable people. Bridgend’s care home residents were particularly

badly effected at the height of the pandemic. Many people lost family and friends they

loved and cared for to this awful virus. We tragically lost people who we had worked

with in social care for many years. We have worked through our Social Care

Workforce Development Team to support the whole social care sector in Bridgend to

grieve for the losses we have experienced, working in partnership with Cruise. We

have also worked within the Council to ensure our directly employed workforce have

had access to the support and counselling they need. We know these needs will be

ongoing, and are continuing to support workforce wellbeing, as the delayed impact of

what we lived and worked through becomes apparent.

4Page 48



Director’s Introduction

Inequalities in outcomes were exacerbated by the pandemic. People with mental ill-

health, disabilities, people who are older and frailer were more vulnerable to the

impact of the virus and the lockdowns. The impact on family carers has been

considerable. In meeting with carers recently some experiences were heart-rending

and will drive what we do going forward. The work across the whole Council, and with

partners, to mitigate these impacts has never been more important. We have worked

with the Carers Trust South East Wales to ensure there is 24/7 helpline support for

carers, and used grant funding flexibly so carers can access whatever they need to

make a positive difference to enable them to continue their caring responsibilities.

The third sector response, supported by the Council, has been phenomenal. 4444

people were supported by BAVO to access the support they needed. Many people

needing some information, advice and assistance were not previously known to

social services and had there needs effectively met without needing to access

services on an ongoing basis.

(cont…)

5
Page 49



Director’s Introduction

:

How we operated during the pandemic

We worked closely with Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) throughout the pandemic

to ensure they were assured and advised of how we were working, and adapting

our operating models, to comply with Welsh Government guidance, and tiers of

restrictions, whilst continuing to safeguard, protect and deliver essential services.

Face to face service delivery continued throughout the pandemic in social care –

care homes, supported living, domiciliary care direct payment Personal Assistants,

children protection investigations, Mental Health Act assessments.

We developed and constantly risk assessed our operating models for adult and

children’s services in accordance with the Welsh Government tiers of restriction.

Risk assessments meant at some tiers of restriction, services operated digitally as

the risk to public health of spreading the virus was too great. In children’s services,

when risk mitigations were robust enough to enable us to do so, we carried out

face to face visits to children and families in respect of child protection, and to our

care experienced children and foster carers. A difficult area was contact between

parents and care experienced children and we worked closely to Welsh

Government guidance to enable face to face contact to resume as soon as risk

mitigations allowed.

.In adult services our day opportunities operated at reduced numbers and with

extensive risk mitigations, when tiers of restriction allowed. At other times the

public health risks were too high and our day services staff supported people to be

occupied and engaged in their own homes, including our supported living settings.

Adult social workers worked closely with other professional colleagues to minimise

the number of people who visited care homes and other vulnerable settings, and

kept in touch with people in a way which best suited them; which for many

individuals was via the telephone. Assessments of people’s best interest under the

Mental Capacity Act was a challenging area of work, given the restrictions on

professionals visiting care homes. We have worked to address delays in carrying

out this essential safeguarding work as tiers of restriction have reduced.

(cont…)

6Page 50



Director’s Introduction

:How well we have performed 

Despite the challenges we have faced during the pandemic, there has continued to be a
focus on improving performance. The following are highlights of our improvements against
the key measures:

Children’s Services:

 Assessment timescales – 2019/20 74% ; 2020/21) 96.5%

 Visits – Child Protection 2019/20 80% ; 2020/21 92%

 Care Experienced Children 2019/20 84% ; 2020/21 89%

 Placements in independent residential – 13 (2014) to 6 at 31.03.21 of which all 6 are 
in Bridgend neighbouring LAs (RCT and NPT).

 Unregulated placements:-
 6 children in 9 placements   (2018/19)
 3 children in 6 placements   (2019/20)
 0 (2020/21)

 Number of Care Experienced Children – there has been a small decrease in the
number of children looked after, but positively a more significant decrease (7%) in the
number of children looked after who live away from family or close family
connections. This is set out in the table below:

(cont…)

7Page 51



Director’s Introduction

:
Adult Services:

During 2020/21 there were:-

 4408 contacts to Adult Social Care, of which 1299 were provided advice and

assistance.

 1974 people aged 65+ were referred to CRT services which is 9% less than

the same period last year.

 123 packages of enablement were completed between 01/04/2020 & 

28/02/2021 of which:-

 49.09% required no ongoing care

 32.42% required a reduction in the support required

 10.27% required a similar level of support

 4450 assessments were completed which is 9% less than in 2019/20

 2388 reviews were completed which is 12% less than in 2019/20

 There were 288 contacts to social services relating to carers and 213 carers

assessments (41.5% below same period last year).

 As at 31st March, there were 2274 Adults with a Care and Support/Treatment

plan. This is a reduction when compared to 31st March 2020 when there

were 2437

(cont…)

8Page 52



Director’s Introduction

:How we have continued to develop services

Despite the immense challenges of the pandemic, SSWB we have continued to

progress key service developments and improvements, although the pace of

remodelling work, and in some cases the direction of that work, has been impacted.
Key developments which have been progressed:

Children’s Services:

 Launch of outcomes model of social work practice in children’s services in

October 2020

 Refreshed early help and permanence strategy and action plan to safely

reduce numbers of children looked after

 More integrated working to progress edge of care services with Education &
Family Support:

 Connecting Families

 Rapid response service

 Baby in Mind which won a Social Care accolade in November 2020

 IFSS

 Family group conferencing

 Reflect

 MAPPS which is being recommissioned regionally

 Enhancing foster care support, connected persons developments and

consulting with special guardians on new financial support for them. We have

implemented new arrangements with regional partners to recruit foster

carers and recruiting more specialist transitional foster carers is progressing.

 Remodelling residential care provision is continuing and our learning and

progressive practice it represents is an area other local authorities are

seeking to learn from.

9Page 53



Director’s Introduction

:
Adult Services:

 Extended multi disciplinary approaches in cluster teams – community

psychiatric nurses, district nurses, OT, other therapists, pharmacist and

technicians now all work together to support ‘Mrs Jones’

 Using direct payments innovatively and creatively

 Supporting carers through 24/7 telephone support and flexible grants

which can be used to support what matters to them

 Growing innovation with 3rd sector to protect the most vulnerable and

prevent escalation of needs through local area co-ordination and

community connectors

 Modernising care at home through electronic call monitoring, building on

the many positives in the recent CIW regulatory inspection

 Modernising the way care at home is commissioned, embedding learning

from the pandemic around flexible, outcome focussed approaches

 Investing in the care home sector, building support around care homes

from

 User led day opportunities and supported living remodelling is

progressing and learning from the pandemic is supporting people to be

even more connected to their own communities.

 ARC and the wellbeing mental health retreat demonstrating the

importance of intervening as early as possible for people experiencing
mental ill health and distress.

(cont…)

10Page 54



Director’s Introduction

:
How well our regulator has said we have performed

CIW continued essential regulatory work during the pandemic. One of the

Council’s children’s homes was categorised as a ‘service of concern’ in August

2020. Extensive work was undertaken to address the concerns of the regulator,

including securing behaviour analysist as part of our team, and in October 2020,

CIW advised they were assured that the progress made meant that this status

could be de-escalated.

At the height of the pandemic in November 2021, a full regulatory inspection was

undertaken of the Council’s domiciliary care services. Whilst noting a small

number of improvements, this inspection was very positive reflection on the

service. Highlighting the positive feedback from people using the service,

inspectors reported that everyone they spoke with was complimentary of the care

staff and felt they provided a service that met their needs. They praised the clear

management structure, the good support and development opportunities for staff,

and the positive feedback from staff who said they felt valued and supported.

Noting the additional challenges during the coronavirus pandemic, inspectors said

people receiving care and support told them they were confident in having care

workers coming into their homes because they were careful with hygiene

practices. Inspectors also praised the detailed and recorded care plans.

In April 2021, CIW carried out an assurance check of how well we had ensured the

safety and well-being of people who use or may need to use services, the safety

of services they access and the safety and well-being of people who work in

services. The key lines of enquiry were focused on the four principles of the Social

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. We have aligned our findings to the

four principles: People - Voice and Control, Prevention, Well-being, Partnerships

and Integration.

Overall, CIW reported that ‘’ The local authority had made clear its strategic and

operational intent to support vulnerable young people, adults and carers

throughout the COVID-19 pandemic (the pandemic).

(cont…)

11Page 55



Director’s Introduction

:
Leaders have maintained a line of sight on the changing COVID-19 landscape,

resulting in clear plans and innovative practice/responses to address the

challenges presented. Leaders and senior managers continue to keep under

review what is working well and different ways of working because of the

pandemic, which they intend to take forward.’’

Importantly:‘’ Overall, in adults services we found an outcome-focused approach

was embedded in practice, this supported coproduction and identification of

personal outcomes. People’s views were sought and their voices heard. Matters

relating to consent, advocacy, mental capacity and best interests were routinely

considered at an early stage in the engagement process.’’

In children’s services, CIW found:-

:
‘’Practitioners and independent reviewing officers (IROs) presented as having an

understanding of the circumstances and experiences of the children and families

they were working with. We found more varied practice in relation to co-

production and seeking and or recording the voice of the child. Confirmation

regarding the active offer of advocacy was contained in the files viewed. Co-

production, particularly in the context of engagement, identification of personal

outcomes, risks, and provision of services to achieve positive change required

some improvement. The local authority is aware of the need to further embed

practice, which is strength based and outcome focused and work is currently

underway to address this.’’

(cont…)

12

:The most significant risks we face going forward

Recovery and renewal plans are being developed across many sectors including

social care. The Council is well-placed to continue to improve and address the

many challenges social services and wellbeing face in Bridgend, with strong

corporate and whole Council political leadership as we well as the strength in

depth of our workforce and partnership arrangements. In order to continue to

improve, an open and transparent culture and practice is fundamental, so we

understand, manage and mitigate the challenges and risks we face. The 3 most

significant are:

Page 56



Director’s Introduction (cont…)

13

The risk to effective safeguarding of our most vulnerable children and adults has

been a feature of the Council’s corporate risk register for a number of years. The

Council has well established mechanisms to ensure compliance with statutory

responsibilities. In the last year Cabinet has approved a revised Corporate

Safeguarding Policy. Bridgend is an active member of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg

Regional Safeguarding Board and has its own operational safeguarding board

with partners and active management of caseloads. All meetings of the Corporate

Management Board (CMB) and of Cabinet/CMB have a standing item. During the

pandemic, the Regional Safeguarding Board operated a gold, silver and bronze

structure to manage safeguarding risks and multi-agency safeguarding

arrangements continued to operate as effectively as possible. The impact of the

pandemic on the safety and wellbeing of the most vulnerable as we move through

the recovery phase is still being understood including: the long term effect of

children not being in school or seeing friends and family, increased social isolation

and mental health issues, increased risks linked to substance misuse, domestic

abuse, suicide/self harm and the significant impact in our care homes. As

statutory officer for safeguarding, I will need to review, consolidate and

strengthen safeguarding resources within the Council to ensure that resilience is

maximise, standards of practice are high and that there is an embedded culture of

learning and review.

The capacity and demand we need to have in place in a timely way to meet the

increasing needs for adult social care as we continue to manage the Covid

pandemic and the impact of the first 2 waves of the virus on people’s need for

care and support. The impact of long-Covid, the extended period of shielding on

people’s physical and mental health and the impact of delays to NHS treatments

are all increasing the need for adult social care. We have put in place short,

medium and long term actions including the recommissioning of care and support

at home to address the issues we are facing. Fundamental, we need to secure a

high quality, well supported and valued social care frontline workforce across the

whole sector which is at the heart of our workforce priority.

CIW highlighted our plans to fully embed strength based practice in children’s

services. At the heart of good practice is good social work and continuity of work

through strong relationships between skilled professionals and the children and

families we work with. Bridgend, as many Council’s are, is experiencing

challenges in recruiting child protection social workers into our safeguarding
teams

Page 57



Director’s Introduction

:

Social services and wellbeing in Bridgend is cost effective, we have low number of

independent residential placements for children and have made significant savings

as a consequence of supporting people to do what matters, and developing

preventative services, which has reduced the need for statutory services. However,

the service pressures we are experiencing post Covid, and the need to address our

workforce challenges, have financial consequences which present a challenge to

the Council given the many pressures in other services and the underlying service

financial deficits. The services which are so important to people are underpinned by

significant short term grant funding which presents a risk in terms of sustainability.

Looking to the future

Moving forward, there are many positive developments to build upon. We have a 

clear vision for Social Services and Wellbeing in Bridgend and the difference we 

can make for our people in Bridgend by:-

…doing what 

matters for 

all the 

Jones’

Keeping people well, connected and addressing 

health inequalities

Seamless locality based well-being, primary and 

community health and social care for all population groups

Organising all our services in extended primary and 

community service clusters

Understanding and mitigating risks, and safeguarding 

people’s safety independence and wellbeing

We recognise that we will always be on a journey of continuous improvement and

that some of our priorities and plans have had to be adjusted as we understand

more about the impact of the pandemic. Cabinet approved a very clear 5 year

plan for Social Services and Wellbeing in September 2020 and in delivering the

priorities from that plan we are being flexible to ensure we meet emerging needs

evident from the Covid recovery. We have refreshed our strategic priorities.

Everything we do will strongly reflect the voice, choice and increasingly control of

the people we work with and for.

(cont…)

14

We are focussed on retaining the excellent and committed social workers we have,

and addressing in an evidence based way the recruitment challenges we face

through clear plans. We are committed to developing career pathways and know

that people who have already worked in Bridgend and are supported by us to

undertake their social work qualification, stay here. We are seconding 8 of our

colleagues to the social work degree course in 2021 meaning within 3 years we be

able to meet our own needs through our workforce planning.

through:-

Page 58



Director’s Introduction

:When measuring success, we hold ourselves to account in respect of

performance measures but also qualitative reviews of people’s experience and

what is important to all of us when we need advice, assistance and support.

These are the principles we measure against:-

 No wrong door to accessing what we need

 Timely response

 No unnecessary handoffs to other services

 Our needs are met with the least intensive intervention and do not have to

escalate to a higher level in order to receive the right support

 Our strengths, capabilities, aspirations and dreams are important and

understood, and we are supported to overcome the challenges we may

experience in doing what is important to us.

Our 8 highest priorities for Social Services and Wellbeing in Bridgend in 

2021/22 are:-

1) Ensure the rights of the people we work with and for drive everything we do

through enhancing participation, engagement and involvement in every aspect

of our work. This will include the development of a new strategy for Care

Experienced Children which reflects what is important to them from the Council

and partners as corporate parents.

2) Lead the whole social care workforce in Bridgend to ensure a motivated,

engaged and supported workforce, ensuring that Bridgend can retain and

recruit the a workforce with the right values as well as skills to make a

difference to the lives of people with care and support needs. In achieving this

priority we commit to taking the necessary actions to address the challenges

we face in retaining and recruiting children’s social workers and addressing the

challenges we face in recruiting care workers in the Council and across the

social care sector..

3) Commission strength based, outcome focussed, flexible social care services

which are value for money and sustainable, including: the recommissioning of

quality, sustainable care and support at home services for adults, a market

stability plan for adult care homes, the continued remodelling and development

of accommodation, care and support services for children and young people,

(cont…)

15Page 59



Director’s Introduction

:
3) cont…the development of an accommodation, care and support strategy for older

people, and the continued development of community based supported living and

day opportunities for people with learning disabilities.

4) To lead safeguarding and protection of children and adults at risk in Bridgend,

implementing the new Corporate Safeguarding Policy across the Council, and

working with partners in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board

to ensure the lessons from child and adult practice reviews are learned and

embedded in the way we work.

5) To strategically lead integrated health, social care and wellbeing with Cwm Taf

Morgannwg Bridgend Integrated Locality Group, ensuring there are service and

financial sustainability plans for delivering an optimal, community cluster model to

care and support people through a ‘team around the person’ which ensures multi

disciplinary teams work together with care providers and third sector partners to

support people to remain as independent as possible in their homes and

communities.

6) Build on the considerable success on third sector support to the vulnerable during

the pandemic to develop alternative delivery models which achieve sustainable

community development and resilient, connected communities.

7) To continue to develop strength based practice in adult and children’s services so

practitioners are supported through a systemic framework for understanding

personal and community strengths, working expertly with people to resolve

challenges using their own capabilities and resources.

8) To ‘shift the balance of care’ working closely with preventative services in

Education and Family Support and Wellbeing, and in so doing provide the right

set of evidence based interventions and opportunities which will reduce the

number of people who can only live the lives they want to live through accessing

statutory social care services. We will evidence progress in this area through

safely reducing the number of children who are care experienced and safely

reducing the number of adults who can only live safely in a registered care home

setting..

We will evaluate our success against 8 priorities in next years annual report.

(cont…)

16Page 60



Director’s Introduction

:

:Any social services department is as good and

effective as the workforce who deliver, plan,

commission, support, manage and lead those services.

Social Services and Wellbeing services have

demonstrated we are well placed for future challenges

not only by the way we responded to the COVID-19

crisis but by our performance improvements and

service developments.

Our workforce is our greatest strength. The value we

place on every one of them and what they have

achieved is incalculable. Our focus on workforce

wellbeing and growing the future generations of our

workforce is the highest priority as we move forward.

The future is not without risk and challenge – we are

particularly challenged by retaining, recruiting,

supporting, and developing children’s social workers and

care workers for adults and children’s. We are

committed as a Council, with strong corporate and

political as well as service leadership, to tackling these

challenges.

(cont…)

Final Reflections – ‘A Tribute to our Workforce’

Most importantly here is evidence when we get things right we are actively

transforming lives, supporting children and young people to live in Bridgend and

reducing admission to care homes for adults. There are fantastic examples of

innovation and transformation – particularly in the areas of early help and

prevention for adults and children, remodelling children’s accommodation care and
support, and our adult integrated teams.

I would like to conclude my first report by thanking everyone across Bridgend

partners and social care sector who are so compassionate in their values and

passionate about the actions needed to improve outcomes for the people we work

with and alongside. I know through corporate and political leadership, commitment

and professionalism of the workforce, the resilience and creativity of providers, and

the strength of partnerships and people we are well placed for the future.

Claire Marchant 

Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing

17Page 61



How are People Shaping Our Services?

:

We are committed to practice, service development and delivery 

being driven by people who’s lives they impact on

The rights of children and adults should be evident in all we do

In the last 2 years we have worked to ensure we involve people in our key service

developments. Here are some examples of how we have done that:

1) A comprehensive engagement exercise took place with children who live now,

or who had lived previously, in the Council’s residential homes for children so

they could shape and inform the new accommodation, care and support we

were planning. Following feedback received (detailed below) we are making

sure our future plans reflect what they tell us makes the difference to their

lives:

 Improved WIFI really matters to our young people and we are

addressing this in all our settings. Our Council Head of ICT has even

personally come into one of our care homes late at night to sort out a

Wifi problem – as any (corporate) parent would do for their own child!

 Young people helped us develop the specification for additional

accommodation options for young people aged over 16. They were

part of the design of the Supported Accommodation specification and

had were fully involved in the tender process, facilitating their own

tender evaluation panel.

 Our new residential home plans include en-suite bathrooms for children

who live their to have access to individual bathroom facilities. We

consulted further with young people residing in Maple Tree House

(MTH) who reviewed the initial design plans and asked for a bath to be

fitted in addition to en-suite bathrooms. This was incorporated into the

final design.

18Page 62



How are People Shaping Our Services?

:
2) People First Bridgend, our peer led partners for people with learning

disabilities, are leading consultation and engagement with individuals to

support the re-commissioning of Supported Living services. The feedback from

individuals will drive the content of the specifications that providers will

respond to. Engagement in this last year has been undertaken in both face-to-

face meetings, and also in a ‘virtual’ format during times when restrictions were

in place due to Covid. People with learning disabilities have become very

effective at using Zoom!

3) We often have a low response to surveys so during June and July 2021 the

Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing attended a number of focus

group meetings to understand people’s experiences during the last year.

These took place across a range of service areas including:- a disability focus

group facilitated by Bridgend People First, a Health Social Care and Wellbeing

focus group facilitated by BAVO, a focus group of young care experienced

individuals facilitated by the 16 Plus team, and a focus group of carers

supported by a range of partner organisations Some specific discussions

were also held about support received during the COVID 19 pandemic.

.A number of themes came out of the focus groups:-

 Care experienced young people reported that they

knew who to contact if they needed support and were

reasonably happy with this support.

 Young people felt supported around progression to

suitable accommodation.

 In terms of things we could do better; more regular

face to face contact was identified, and more focus

on work opportunities and not just on education.

 Third sector partners were not always very clear on

who to contact within the Council.

 A number of other partners reported strong working relationships between 

themselves and Council services and reported good communication from 

the service during the pandemic.

19Page 63



How are People Shaping Our Services?

:

 In terms of going forward third sectors partners would like the collaborative

work to continue and further development of a hybrid approach with more

variety of options for individuals to continue.

 Partner’s felt that prevention work has developed and made real changes

to people’s lives especially around immediate responses and

interventions.

 Building on the success of some of the creative solutions implemented

during the pandemic, some people saw the opportunity for more

community support and less need for people to come into services such

as day opportunities.

 Although there is a recognised strength of working together they

highlighted that resilience is needed going forward to continue to support

independence for individuals

 Some members of the disability focus group expressed some concern

about communication from the service; the correct form of communication

being used for individuals with needs, information advice and assistance

for individuals who do not have eligible needs not always being provided,

or of only being given information about their own circumstances when

they ask for it and not routinely.

 There were reports of good involvement of individuals relating to choices

for their future accommodation and independence, and also the way they

choose to live their lives.

 Some individuals reported receiving assistance during lockdown to

improve their confidence levels and of developing more independent skills.

20Page 64



How are People Shaping Our Services?

: In terms of going forward third sectors partners would like the collaborative

work to continue and further development of a hybrid approach with more

variety of options for individuals to continue.

 Partner’s felt that prevention work has developed and made real changes

to people’s lives especially around immediate responses and

interventions.

 Building on the success of some of the creative solutions implemented

during the pandemic, some people saw the opportunity for more

community support and less need for people to come into services such

as day opportunities.

 Although there is a recognised strength of working together they

highlighted that resilience is needed going forward to continue to support

independence for individuals

 Some members of the disability focus group expressed some concern

about communication from the service; the correct form of communication

being used for individuals with needs, information advice and assistance

for individuals who do not have eligible needs not always being provided,

or of only being given information about their own circumstances when

they ask for it and not routinely.

 There were reports of good involvement of individuals relating to choices

for their future accommodation and independence, and also the way they

choose to live their lives.

 Some individuals reported receiving assistance during lockdown to

improve their confidence levels and of developing more independent skills.

 75 % of the group indicated they were happy with the service they had

received from social care over the last year and 25% indicated that they

were not so happy.

21Page 65



How are People Shaping Our Services?

 They asked that we continue to develop work around carers

assessments and active offer of advocacy as this works better in

some service areas than others.

 Carers in Bridgend indicated that information advice and assistance

and contact details for support to carers could be made more

accessible

 In respect of support to carers; consideration of a more joined up

approach across both the Council departments but also with partner

organisations in order to support carers more effectively

 Carers felt that the flexible grant scheme in the last year had been

transformative for them, supporting small purchases such as an ipad or

subscription to Netflix which had enabled them to continue to care.

They asked that we continue to develop processes around Direct

Payments accessibility; to ensure that flexible support for carers when

they need it is provided.

22Page 66



Promoting and improving the 

wellbeing of those we help 

Prevention and Wellbeing

23Page 67



What we did

 Local community coordinators were deployed in areas of deprivation in the

Ogmore, Garw and Llynfi Valleys

 5 Community navigators employed by BAVO to help connect people to

local support and to provide information, advice and assistance.

 Representatives of community groups including parent carers of children

and young people with disabilities / additional needs brought together and

supported to collaborate as the new Bridgend Inclusive Network Group

(BING).

Quality Standard 1 - Working with people to define 

and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that 

people wish to achieve

Prevention and Wellbeing

24Page 68



Prevention and Wellbeing

What are we doing next

 Continue to develop our “Building Resilient Communities” programme 

and work with the third sector to create community networks that 

support people in their communities.

How well did we do 

 Bridgend had the third highest volunteer step up in Wales and 4444

people were supported in the community; 446 volunteers were trained

and deployed. There was support for 2993 prescriptions,225 food

security needs and 1126 shielding checks made

 94% of presenting needs were able to be met within the third sector

with 77 third sector organisations working together

 BING are now a stand alone network, securing their own resources and

developing relevant opportunities. A range of other community led

groups and opportunities are developing.

25Page 69



Quality Standard 2 - Working with people and

partners to protect and promote people’s physical

and mental health and emotional wellbeing

Prevention and Wellbeing

What we did

 Delivered the National Exercise Referral Scheme in partnership with Halo,

Public Health Wales and CTM Health Board, expanding the chronic

condition pathways

 Launched the Super Agers physical wellbeing programme for older adults

.An “active at home” resource was created and distributed to older adults

with telephone mentoring support for some including people with a sensory

impairment and digital exclusion.

 Worked with BAVO and Age Cymru to develop an inter-generational

befriending approach building on previous work and including pen-friend

opportunities as part of the “Friend in Need” programme

26Page 70



Prevention and Wellbeing

How well did we do 

 Exercise referral developed 1:1 support and mentoring support for

people with stroke, cancer, falls, pulmonary rehab needs. Through the

digital offer there were 7039 contacts and 7643 live views,

 Super Agers supported 132 local people and 200 home activity packs

were distributed. This programme has been recognised as a Bevan

Exemplar.

 BAVO have received 229 referrals for befriending and 145 people have

been able to be supported by 102 volunteers at a time when new

approaches have been needed to be used

What are we doing next

 Continue to work with our communities and partners to develop

innovative opportunities that can support community Covid recovery.

27Page 71



Quality Standard 3 – Taking steps to protect and

safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm

Prevention and Wellbeing

What we did

 We delivered a new school holiday activity hub programme for ‘looked

after’ children and young people who were potential safeguarding concerns

support 50 young people/ households.

 A new carers wellbeing service was commissioned via Carers Trust South

East Wales following extensive engagement with carers to co-design the

type and range of support that was felt to be needed

 A partnership approach to ‘Falls prevention’ and postural stability has

developed between health, social care and the third sector as a cross

sector network in recognition that prevention of falls is possible.

28Page 72



Prevention and Wellbeing

How well did we do 

 Building on the initial mobilisation of the Carers Wellbeing services

1206 carers were supported in 2020/21 with 412 ‘What Matters’

conversations, and 336 carers receiving information, advice and

assistance ( IAA ) and signposting

 20 partners worked together on the activity hub programme to make it a

success including 65 hours of provision and 21home support packs

were provided supporting 41 children..

 7 partners are now engaged in the Falls Network and working

collaboratively. An innovative mobile falls programme was developed

by Halo in 2019 – 20 and further developed in 20/21

What are we doing next

 Aim to work more collaboratively and across sectors to create safe 

and supportive opportunities  that help meet the needs of vulnerable 

groups within our communities..

29Page 73



Prevention and Wellbeing

 We launched a programme with Wales Co-operative Centre, supported

by ICF, to connect carers to support or enhance their support networks

 Working with Awen we developed social prescribing programmes

including Stronger Together Bridgend and Creative @ Home

 We worked with Awen to enhance the reach of the library service and

expand the support available for people who were more vulnerable

including delivery of resources to peoples homes and access to digital

resources for people not able to attend venues

Quality Standard 4. Encouraging and supporting 

people to learn, develop and participate in society 

What we did

30Page 74



Prevention and Wellbeing

What are we doing next

 Continuing to work with partners on developing new community 

opportunities and social prescribing pathways as part of a regional 

approach led by CTM health board.

How well did we do 

 Wales Co-Op linked with 60 organisations including community groups

and town and community councils to raise the profile of the need to

understand and support carer wellbeing.

 Stronger Together Bridgend has

stimulated a range of creative

,community based activity and

information sharing with over

2000 weekly hits.

 The new ‘books on wheels’

service is more agile and

supported 3036 home visits to

vulnerable people and issued

15226 resources in 2020/21.

Awen have invested in digital

resources with 89413 issues

(30% increase)

Stronger Together

BRIDGEND

The Awen home delivery service has proved a 

life line to so many people during the 

pandemic.  Participants in the scheme eagerly 

anticipate the visits these wonderful people 

make in the area

31Page 75



Quality Standard 5 - Supporting people to safely 

develop  and maintain healthy, domestic, family 

and personal relationships

Prevention and Wellbeing

 The ‘Feel Good for Life’ programme for people living with dementia,

cognitive impairment and carers was developed in 2019/20 and

expanded, supporting 100 beneficiaries and creating a digital offer

also.

 The Discovery Days play based respite programme supported 45

households and developed new ways of supporting young people with

disabilities in 2020/21 recognising pressures on families.

 The Carers Wellbeing services provided bespoke support for local

carers continuing remotely but with 24 hour support and providing

information, advice and assistance to alleviate concerns or identify

support needs during the pandemic.

What we did

32Page 76



Prevention and Wellbeing

What are we doing next

 Further develop opportunities that meet the needs of carers and cared

for by involving them in the design of community based services and

opportunities.

How well did we do 

 ‘

 A total of 10 ‘keep in touch’ videos were created by staff for young

people with disabilities and 33 zoom sessions were delivered in

addition to the school holiday family opportunities were delivered.

 Carers Trust South East Wales by making the 24 hour support available

reported 2198 contacts being made including work taken forward with

632 new unidentified carers receiving support including carers grants.

Feel Good for Life’ programme that received the Community Leisure UK

national award in 2019-20.Going forward, a digital offer has been

developed with lottery and charitable support helping 39 people and

providing ipads/ data.

33Page 77



Quality Standard 6 - Working with and supporting people to achieve

greater economic wellbeing, have a social life and live in suitable

accommodation that meets needs

Prevention and Wellbeing

 The prevention and wellbeing services has been supporting 3

children’s care home settings to improve spaces and connect young

people to community opportunities. A new Family Engagement

Programme supported by Sport Wales and Welsh Government has

also been progressed.

 Through our partnership with Awen, supported employment

opportunities at B-Leaf and Wood B have been continued and

restarted when restrictions have permitted

 Our partnership with Carers Trust South East Wales has ensured that

local carers have benefitted from the Welsh Government carers

support fund and other resources.

34Page 78



Prevention and Wellbeing

How well did we do 

 Prevention and Wellbeing staff co-designing outdoor space and

developing activities with young people at Sunnybank, Harwood House

and maple tree and integrating wellbeing opportunities with social care

professionals.

 There were 54 trainees supported in the B-Leaf and Wood-B

programmes in 2019/20 and positively 53 retained during 2020/21.

Awen ensured that 31 trainees continued to attend during the pandemic

to ease pressure on households and reduce need for other support.

 Over 5 rounds of Carers investments 290 awards were made to carers

across Bridgend totalling 29k. Across 10 identified local authority areas

Bridgend secured 22% of awards to support carers locally.

What are we doing next

 Working with partners and targeting investment to expand the range of 

opportunities that are available and the support that is needed by more 

vulnerable groups.

35Page 79



Childrens Social Care

Promoting and improving the 

wellbeing of those we help 

36Page 80



Childrens Social Care

What we did

 Launched the outcomes framework with a focus on strength based practice in

Childrens social care.

 Social work teams now work in ways where they focus on the wishes and

feelings of the child and work jointly together with families in developing long

term plans for long terms family future as long as this is in the child’s best

interests.

 Created a corporate parenting and participation officer post to promote the

achievement of the same positive outcomes for care experienced children that

every good parent would want for their own children, addressing the areas

where outcomes are not as they should be; in education and accommodation

for example.

Quality Standard 1 - Working with people to define 

and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that 

people wish to achieve

37Page 81



Childrens Social Care

38Page 82



Childrens Social Care

“I just wanted to let you know the GAL was singing the SW’s 

praises in his evidence. He made the following comments:  

“Really good social worker, “I just wanted to let you know the 

GAL was singing the SW’s praises in his evidence. He made the 

following comments:  “Really good social worker, competent 

does not go halfway there. She has carried out meticulous 

assessments and undertaken brilliant direct work with the 

children. She has worked hard at establishing a relationship with 

both the children and their parents. It has been a benefit to this 

family to have been allocated her to the case”.  Thought I would 
pass on the comments as they don’t get said enough

39Page 83



Childrens Social Care

X’s work was a model of how social 

work should be – approaching a 

case with an open mind.

What we are doing next

 Established a work stream of our new strategic programme focusing on

embedding strength based/outcome focussed practice, with operational

managers leading the change in culture/new ways of working, and ensuring

we continually support and equip new and existing staff to work in this way.

 Appoint our corporate parenting and participation officer

Quality Standard 2 - Working with people and partners to protect and promote 

people’s physical and mental health and emotional well-being

What we did 

 Recognised that we needed to improve integrated working for children with 

continuing care needs and, as a region, commissioned IPC Oxford Brookes 

University to review the existing collaborative arrangements between health 

and social care when planning care and support packages for children and 

young people with complex needs.

 Reviewed our early help and permanence strategy together with the 

Education and Family Support Directorate, to ensure that children, young 

people and their families are offered the right help at the right time to 

promote their wellbeing at the earliest opportunity.

Some of the key achievements in Early Help services are:-

 In 2019-20, the Baby in Mind service worked alongside 18 families with 

83% of babies supported by the team being able to remain safely within 

the family home. In November 2020, this service won a national Social 

Care Wales Accolade award in recognition of its pioneering work.

40Page 84



Childrens Social Care

 In 2020-21, the Baby in Mind Service worked with 29 families. 86% of

the babies were supported to remain in the family home and of the 4

babies who were placed in the care of the local authority, three have

since returned to the care of their parents.

 In 2019/20 Connecting Families offered edge of care support to 59

families consisting of 115 children in 2019-20. Of these children, 93%

were supported to remain at home with their families. An additional 8

children were referred to the service for placement support with 100%

remaining with their carers.

 In 2020-21, Connecting Families provided support to a total 178

children. 153 children were referred for edge of care support with 92.7%

remaining out of care. 25 children were referred for placement support

with 100% remaining in their existing placements.

 In 2019/20 Rapid Response supported 159 children in 2019-20. Of

those children referred, 157 received edge of care support with 96% of

children supported to remain safely at home. 2 children received

placement support with 50% remaining in the placement.

 In 2020-21, Rapid Response provided edge of care support to 166

children with 96% remaining at home with their families. 100% of the

three children referred for placement support were able to remain in

their existing placements.

 11 children were referred to the Integrated Family Support Service

(IFSS) in 2019-20 for edge of care support with 64% being supported to

remain safely in the care of their families. One child was referred for

placement support and has remained at home.

 In 2020-21, 22 children were referred to the service for edge of care

support with 96% remaining at home. 6 children were referred for

placement support with 100% remaining in their placement.

41Page 85



Childrens Social Care

 Recognised the need to improve mental health and emotional well-being for

young people by working in partnership to deliver an integrated approach to

Children and Young People Emotional and Mental Health Support. We are

developing a regional strategy that will describe our commitment to

implement the NEST framework and whole schools approach.

 Advocacy for children and young people in Bridgend is provided through a

regional contract to deliver the National Approach to Statutory Advocacy, as

prescribed by Welsh Government. The contract for Bridgend transferred from

the Western Bay region into the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region on 1st May

2019. The service provider in Bridgend remained in place, namely Tros

Gynnal Plant. This continuity of provider ensured that all ongoing advocacy

cases at the point of contract transfer were maintained with existing

advocates

 Continued to work to increase the number of children and young people

receiving an offer of advocacy to ensure their voices are heard and well-

being is promoted.

How well did we do

42Page 86



Childrens Social Care

43Page 87



Childrens Social Care

Issue-Based Advocacy cases remained at a strong level of delivery with 192 cases

opened in the year supporting children and young people with an Independent

Professional Advocate. Changes to contact approaches were made during lockdown

periods and the provider adapted well to supporting children and young people using

online and digital communications.

44Page 88



Childrens Social Care

What we are doing next

 Finalise and implement a joint pathway/operating model for continuing

care arrangements.

 Finalise the regional mental health strategy and implement a local
delivery plan with colleagues from Health, and Education/Family Support.

 Commission a regional MAPSS (Multi Agency Placement Support

Service) to deliver therapeutic interventions to care experienced children

and those placed for adoption.

45Page 89



Childrens Social Care

What we did 

 Finalised and implemented our MASH performance management

framework with partner agencies.

 The Bridgend MASH Quality Assurance Performance quarterly and annual

report card is now fully operational and reports multi agency partner

performance indicators into the MASH Operational board and the

Executive board who scrutinise the Data. There is also an opportunity for

partners to review the data relating to their partners within the MASH and

to consider emerging themes and trends. The QA information is also

presented to the Regional Safeguarding Board.

Quality Standard 3 - Taking steps to protect and 

safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm

 Created a quality assurance officer post across the Directorate. 

 Launched the new ‘Wales Safeguarding Procedures’ in partnership with 

Welsh Government and Cwm Taff Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding 

Board with the safeguarding training module being mandatory for all staff.

 Reviewed the Corporate Safeguarding policy and created a corporate 

safeguarding officer post to oversee and support Directorates in its 

implementation. 

46Page 90



Childrens Social Care

How well did we do

47Page 91



Childrens Social Care

48Page 92



Childrens Social Care

What we are doing next

 Appoint the corporate safeguarding officer and fully embed the Council’s

Corporate Safeguarding Policy by March 2022 to ensure an effective

approach to implementation across the Council.

 Appoint the quality assurance officer who will be pivotal in ensuring we

embed our Quality Assurance Framework to ensure that children, families

and adults benefit from the highest possible standard of service within

resources

 Implement the Public Law working group recommendations to achieve

best practice in child protection and family justice systems.

Quality Standard 4 - Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop 

and participate in society

What we did

 Finalised our transition service model and established our child disability

and transition team.

 Responded to the need to provide support and a social life to our most

vulnerable children and young people during the school holidays of 2020,

and we established bespoke provision to achieve this. 20 days of

activities were provided; supporting 39 young people, who were

registered or classed as vulnerable, and with 259 visits over the four

week period.

49Page 93



Childrens Social Care

How well did we do

50Page 94



Childrens Social Care

How well did we do

What we did 

Continued to seek to reduce the number of care experienced children, supporting

them, where possible, to live with their families and where this is not possible

achieve permanence at the earliest possible opportunity.

 Undertaken a restructure and agreed that a care experienced team will be

established to ensure there is sufficient focus on ensuring care experienced

children are supported to maintain positive personal relationships in

permanent arrangements. We have created a new Team Manager & Senior

Social Work post to support this change in structure

Reviewed and relaunched our overarching special guardianship policy in

November 2020.

Quality Standard 5 - Supporting people to safely develop and maintain

healthy domestic, family and personal relationships

Numbers of Care Experienced Children

31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2021

Total LAC Population 390 384 381 394 390 

Number of Relative/Friend Placements 59 59 63 87 89

Number of PWP Placements 47 48 57 67  80

Number of UASC 0 0 0 2  0

LAC Population minus PWP, Relative/Friend, UASC 284 277 261 238 221

51

What we are doing next

 Co design a

strategy for

disabled

children and

their parents

/carers

Page 95



Childrens Social Care

Numbers of Care Experienced Children Placed Outside Authority

Number of Placements Outside Authority but in 

Wales 
31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2021

Total LAC Population 99 94 88 101  90

LAC Population minus PWP, Relative/Friend, UASC 77 72 63 67 60 

Number of Placements outside Wales 31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2021

Total LAC Population 4 4 7 10  14

LAC Population minus PWP, Relative/Friend, UASC 1 1 2 3  0

Progress was due mainly to the ‘excellent level of social worker 

support’ the parents had and he went on to say that the way that X 

has dealt with this case was ‘ a model of social work involvement 

when attempting to secure the long term objective of keeping a 

child with its parents if possible and safe to do so.

52Page 96



Childrens Social Care

What we are doing next

 Our focus in 2021/22 will be on children and young people ceasing to be

looked after and a key piece of Bridgend’s reduction strategy action plan is

to increase the revocation of Placement with parent placements, the number

of Care Order discharges and the use of alternative orders such as Special

Guardianship (SGO).

 Continue to promote the use of family group conferences and develop a

culture where this approach is pivotal to our strengths based practice

culture.

 Implement our care experienced children team in September 2021

 Continued to embed the emergency and assessment model of residential

provision in Maple Tree House (MTH).

 In April 2020 the model in MTH became more fully functional with the

Behaviour Clinic being on-site to support the residential staff to develop a

psychologically informed environment that focussed on providing an

enriched activity programme and positive behaviour strategies and enabling

complex assessments to be undertaken and therapeutic interventions

identified.

 In February 2021 we appointed a permanent behaviour analyst who is a full

time member of the staff team.

 Undertook a joint commissioning exercise with housing for an extended

supported living service for care experienced young people who required

support in transition as well as those who are experiencing homelessness.

This commissioning exercise also involved Young People, who were part

of the evaluation panel.

Quality Standard 6 - Working with and supporting people to achieve

greater economic well-being, have a social life and live in suitable

accommodation that meets their needs.

What we did 

53Page 97



Childrens Social Care

 Undertaken a review of our transitional foster carer scheme and a

new (Draft) Transitional Foster Care Policy has been developed

setting out the expectations of the role and also the support that is

available. Specific, targeted recruitment recommenced in March

2021.

 Extended the training delivery plan to upskill general foster carers

 Undertaken consistent marketing and advertising campaigns for target

areas where there may be identified gaps in provision – including face

to face and online- to attract prospective carers.

 Worked collaboratively with our regional colleagues in RCT and

MTCBC to develop a “Regional Front Door”.

How well did we do 

54Page 98



Childrens Social Care

55Page 99



Childrens Social Care

What we are doing next

 Move our existing service, Maple Tree House, to a purpose built

provision.

 Recruit more transitional carers

 Relocate our placement and fostering team so that they are co -located

in the new purpose built service.

 Launch our regional front door for prospective foster carers in April

2021.

56Page 100



Adult Social Care

Promoting and improving the 

wellbeing of those we help 

57Page 101



Adult Social Care

What we did

 We are working with our people with learning disabilities to live their lives

as they wish – our pictures below show how we are doing this! They are

also driving the future provision of supported living and day opportunities

and employment.

QS1. Working with people to define and co-

produce personal well-being outcomes that

people wish to achieve

 The Bridgend Voice & Choice (BVC)

advocacy service show a successful

advocacy service being delivered

enabling people’s voices to be heard in

all aspects of their lives.

 A reorganisation of mental health

services was completed in December

2019 after discussions The Social Care

And Recovery Team (SCART)

 Focussed on sustaining our ‘what

matters’ model of social work during the

pandemic. This work has been

practitioner led and consolidated using

action learning across teams throughout

2020/2021. We are improving the way

we record and evidence people’s

outcomes in our assessments and care

plans.

 Our Community Learning Disability Team

and Mental Health Team have further developed their social work

practice as part of the ‘Sustaining social work initiative’. The strong

focus on person centred planning and outcomes continues to develop

and embed in day to day practice

58Page 102



Adult Social Care

 Community Occupational Therapy services have been working with

Housing to review and streamline the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)

processes. Within Housing, there is now based a Community

Occupational Therapist who is able to work closely with Architects and

Building firms as DFG projects go live until project completion.

 In June 2019, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board

was advised by Welsh Government that their two transformation

programme bids had been successful, securing £22.7 million for the two

ambitious programmes of work. The Bridgend programme ‘Accelerating

the Pace of Change for Our Integrated Services (APCIS)’ included three

ambitions.

 The overarching aim of the Transformation Programme is to deliver fully

accessible coordinated health and social care services seamlessly

wrapped around the needs and preferences of individuals

How well did we do 

59Page 103



Adult Social Care

2020/21

The total number of adults during the year where the need for an 

independent professional advocate was identified 52

The total number of adults during the year where the need for an 

independent professional advocate was identified, of those the total 

number where an Independent Advocate was provided 52

60Page 104



Adult Social Care

61Page 105



Adult Social Care

What are we doing next

 Following the outcome of the consultation with people in supported

living accommodation, write the service specifications and

recommission the services;

 •Strengthen our quality assurance processes to continuously review

and improve how well we have implemented our strength based

practice model;

62Page 106



Adult Social Care

 To continue to build strong

relationships with community

clusters to support people to

receive seamless health and

social care and access the

support and services in the

communities in which they live.

 Work with partners in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region to agree and

implement an optimal model for community health, social care and

wellbeing which takes the very best practice from across the region.

 Continue to develop the operating model for the Information, Advice

and Assistance in Bridgend so people receive what they need in a

timely, accessible way.

 Develop relationship based social work across adult services,

ensuring there are no unnecessary handoffs between teams.

 Continue to train and develop our workforce in strength based

practice.

What we did

 Remodelling our care and support home services. The priorities have

been:

 Consulting with our workforce on a new staffing model

 Accommodation for teams including investment in our Trem y Mor

integrated resource centre

 Electronic Scheduling System to improve service efficiency was

implemented in June 2020

Quality Standard 2 - Working with people and partners to protect and

promote people’s physical and mental health and emotional well-being

63Page 107



Adult Social Care

 The Telecare service continue to develop using new technologies to

support people to remain as independent as possible.

 Our Acute Clinical Team is introducing Point Of Care (PoC) blood

testing which is enabling the team to undertake clinical assessments at

a person’s home more quickly with no time delay to understand what

treatments are needed.

 During the pandemic, the Council’s directly provided care and support

services have continued to operate their services as ‘business as usual’

whilst also managing the significant pressures experienced on a

professional and personal level.

 Our priority has been to maintain and support the wellbeing and safety

of all our people using services and staff, whilst delivering front line care

and support to people living in residential accommodation, community

settings and peoples own homes. We have continued to deliver care

and support to all, according to their assessed needs.

 Individuals, families; staff and professionals have worked closely during

the pandemic and have supported one and other throughout these

challenging times. People’s resilience and strength have enabled our

services to continue delivering outcome focused and person centred

care to the most vulnerable people who receive our services.

64Page 108



Adult Social Care

Examples of what we have been doing include:-

 Letters sent via email or post to families informing of the plans to re-

connect Families/Friends including window and indoor visits

 Wellbeing telephone calls from management and staff with families and

people receiving support in the community

 Keep in touch events organised between supported living houses

 Christmas party via Zoom with entertainment

 People supported to keep in touch with loved ones via ‘what’s App’,

telephone calls, face time, writing letters and enclosing a photo.

 Sending cards and personal gifts /photos during times of celebratory

events such as VE Day, Easter, Christmas and family birthdays

 During the pandemic emergency services were visiting our Extra care

schemes to clap for carers each week, sounding their horns and

celebrating their appreciation and support.

 Support provided to families to allow essential visits to take place safely

to be beside their loved ones at end of life.

65Page 109



Adult Social Care

How well did we do

 Multi-Disciplinary Teams (MDT’s) are in place in each GP cluster

network and work on the basis of who is best placed with the right skills

and expertise to respond to the needs of individuals in communities. A

co-ordinated plan is in place to take this work forward to the

consolidation phase.

 During the pandemic social work teams continued to undertake some

home visits and assessments and undertake safeguarding work, where

visits were not possible regular telephone contact with individuals and

families in terms of welfare continued throughout. The service has seen

an increase in the level of need of people with care and support needs

and an increased pressure on co-resident carers, which may result in

services being required for individuals in need at an earlier stage in their

journey.

.

66Page 110



Adult Social Care

31/03/2021

Numbers of Anticipatory Care Plans in 

place at a date (snapshot) 112

2020/21

Number of New 

Starters to 

Service

Average Days 

Awaiting Service 

Commencement

Residential Care 232 4

Domiciliary Care 409 4

Day Care 44 5

67Page 111



Adult Social Care

What are we doing next

 Develop our falls prevention services including developing a community

falls pathway;

 Continuing to develop the use of assistive technology by project

managing the transfer from analogue to a digital platform for Telecare;

 Continue to develop multidisciplinary working in the integrated cluster

network teams working across primary and community services

 To ensure everyone has a contingency care/anticipatory care planning into

manage care and support services;

 Development information advice and assistance so the roles of

community hubs, our common Access Point and Corporate Contact

Centre align

 Finalise a medication policy for care and support at home services.

 Full implementation of the care and support at home operating model.

68Page 112



Adult Social Care

What we did

 Worked through the statutory protocol for the closure of a registered care

following a decision by the provider to retire. The process was dynamic as

this was managed during Covid restrictions being in place. However, the

process was concluded with all residents safely moving to new settings

October 2020.

 At the start of the pandemic response an information-sharing portal was

created for social care providers to access and contribute to. The portal

provides information, regular updates, peer support, good practice

exchange and generally an effective communication channel between all

parties.

 During 2020, Contract Monitoring officers carried out weekly checking calls

with providers, who also received weekly written updates from the care

homes, providing a risk status, based on key Covid-19 related information,

such as staff absences linked to Covid-19.

 Developed a process to help inform contingency planning arrangements

and safeguarding actions in a multi agency way across the care home

sector. This included bringing together the safeguarding statutory

‘Escalating Concerns’ processes and the public health led Covid Incident

Management Team (IMT) meetings, ensuring that all actions to safeguard

and protect residents were taken.

 December 2020 and January 2021 was a difficult time for Bridgend in light

of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and outbreaks in care homes. At

one point 14 of 19 independent/commissioned care homes and 4 Council

Care homes had Covid cases and associated restrictions in place. This

included all nursing homes in the County Borough.

 The Secure Estate Social Care Team is well established within Her

Majesty’s Prison Parc. The implementation of the Regulation and

Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016, provided significant challenge

in the delivery of social care to individual prisoners in 2019/20 but through

close working with CIW and the delivery of care to continue and Cabinet

approved contractual arrangements in 2020.

Quality Standard 3 - Taking steps to protect and

safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm

69Page 113



Adult Social Care

 Supported the implementation of assistive technology in the older person’s

wing of the prison.

 Families and individuals known to the service were contacted on a regular

basis by phone and other methods throughout the lockdown period. Staff

proactively managed welfare checks and essential visits took place

throughout. Contact with carers has been an essential part of this process.

 Referrals were received and prioritised based on need and risk and risk

assessed home visits were made to those who needed it.

 Staffing levels in directly provided services have been managed in a

dynamic way as we had periods where a large number of absences due to

Covid -19 and self-isolation. Staff worked flexibly, often agreeing to work

additional hours and/or were re-deployed from day and respite services.

 As a result of day services buildings being closed, support has moved to

being more individually based and at home with a range of bespoke

services being developed for individuals.

 Support at home services continued as business as usual; however, some

families chose to cancel their packages of care for a period of time at the

beginning of lockdown, which has enabled the service to be more flexible;

however, this changed throughout the year.

 Safeguarding continued business as usual via digital platforms. There was

a significant reduction in the numbers of adult at risk referrals received and

an increase in domestic violence referrals; these are dealt with through the

MARAC process with partners. Regional and local safeguarding meetings

continued and strengthened throughout 2020/2021.

70Page 114



Adult Social Care

How well did we do

What we are doing next

 Prepare for the implementation of the Liberty Protection to ensure that all

staff are trained and equipped to understand the new LPS by April 2022.

71Page 115



Adult Social Care

What we did

 Our Social Care Workforce Development Team have supported a number of

sessions to further consolidate the “What Matters” approach within the

Community Resource Team service.

 Staff supervision and a programme of quality assurance audit are vital to

evidence confidence in our systems and processes.

 An Information Brokerage post has been introduced in the Common Access

Point via BAVO, working in the main as a point of contact and referral, for

people who require further information on what is available in local

communities in relation to community activities, groups, services and

facilities, enabling appropriate signposting to third sector and community

based support.

 Funding was approved to create Wellbeing Retreat in central Bridgend

which is supporting people in crisis. Feedback to date is very positive.

Quality Standard 4 - Encouraging and supporting

people to learn, develop and participate in society

72Page 116



Adult Social Care

How well did we do

What we are doing next

 To analyse the outcomes of the Information Brokerage post and consider if

there are any opportunities for service improvement as this could improve the

individuals’ overall health and wellbeing and empowering them to remain

independent for as long as possible in their home and community;

 Secure the continuation of a ‘wellbeing retreat’ which supports people in crisis;

 Agree operational policies and pathways for adult community mental health

services;

 Develop of the multi-disciplinary working and operational policy for perinatal

services;.

 Develop of ‘closer to home’

accommodation schemes for

learning disability;

 Re-writing BCBC’s case recording

policy and guidance as another

step in embedding outcomes

focussed, strength based working

in supporting staff to record in a

way that evidences and references

the approach in practice. We intend

to link to Social Care Wales’

document ‘Friend not Foe’ that is

focused on improving the recording

of outcomes
73Page 117



Adult Social Care

What we did

 Made significant developments in our Homecare Remodelling plans, which

has included introducing new technology (Electronic Call Monitoring

system) for our internal homecare teams.

 This strongly links with the ongoing work within the Sustaining Social Work

programme on preventative approaches and resilient community

coordination, as well as the work on developing consistent and shared

approaches across adult social care services.

 In 2019/20 we developed an ethos for our teams working in the Extra Care

facilities; the principles of this approach are applicable across all adult

social care services as they are focused on the uniqueness of individuals

and their families. A workshop was held on “What is Extra in Extra Care?”

in February 2020 to determine a shared vision with shared expectations in

the delivery of care. The purpose and actions identified for priority include

supporting all staff to respond to diversity being person centred and

creating a sense of wellbeing.

How well did we do

Quality Standard 5 - Supporting people to safely

develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and

personal relationships

74Page 118



Adult Social Care

What we are doing next

 Supporting recovery across the sectors we work with and using what we

now know to inform our commissioning;

 Stepping up quality assurance and review; independent audits of case

management have already been undertaken and plans are underway to

undertake audit screening;

 Development of an integrated day opportunity service for older people

with a focus on dementia.

75Page 119



Adult Social Care

What we did

 Supported the domiciliary care workforce to meet their requirements for

registration with Social Care Wales by April 2020.

 Opened the second of our two new Extra Care Housing schemes in

Maesteg. The new tenants, as well as the residents of the residential unit,

were successfully supported to move into their new homes in “Ty

Llwynderw” in 2019/20.

Quality Standard 6 - Working with and supporting people to achieve

greater economic well-being, have a social life and live in suitable
accommodation that meets their needs

 Continues to support the rollout of dementia supportive communities within

the County Borough in partnership with the new University Health Board,

Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO) and the

Alzheimer’s Society. The realignment of the Community Dementia Service

will support the work on delivering a dementia friendly agenda, ensuring

excellent advice and information continues to be delivered to people and

their families living with the impact of dementia and cognitive impairment.

 The Adult Placement Scheme which is run in partnership with the Vale of

Glamorgan council is flourishing.

. 76Page 120



Adult Social Care

How well did we do

 In 2020/21 Adult Social Care received 7,567 referrals (compared to 8,534 in

19/20, and 7469 in 18/20) during the year.

 The single point of contact was used by 1,866 adults, and 1,256 children for

people to access information, advice and assistance.

 We supported 49 adults in our residential reablement unit during the year, of

which 32 (65.3%) returned home to live.

 269 more people received a Telecare package compared to 18/19 – with

2,679 people now in receipt of a Telecare package.

What we are doing next

 We are developing an older persons’ housing strategy and mapping

accommodation needs for learning disabilities and mental health provision;

 We will continue to use direct payments innovatively and creatively as the

new service is brought in house;

 We will complete the review of dementia services and work collaboratively

to ensure there is appropriate service ‘offers’ to meet all the requirements

for people living with dementia in Bridgend County Borough.

77Page 121



Inspection feedback

 Under quality standard 6 there were 3 inspections within the
Directorate by the Care Inspectorate for Wales (CIW) during the 2 year
period; 2 inspections were undertaken in the Childrens Residential
Care Homes and 1 of the internal Domiciliary Care Services.

 The links to the reports relating to these inspections for Corporate 
Parenting and Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee can be found 
below:-

 http://ballot/documents/s19947/04.09.19%20-
%20CIW%20Inspection%20of%20Childrens%20Residential%20Servic
es.pdf

 http://ballot/documents/s23157/2.%20Childrens%20Residential%20CI
W%20Inspection%20and%20Action%20Plan.pdf

 https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s24554/CIW%20Inspect
ion%20of%20Dom%20Care.pdf?LLL=0

 CIW also undertook a quality assurance check of how well we
safeguarded people during the pandemic in April 2021. This has not yet
been published.

78Page 122

http://ballot/documents/s19947/04.09.19%20-%20CIW%20Inspection%20of%20Childrens%20Residential%20Services.pdf
http://ballot/documents/s23157/2.%20Childrens%20Residential%20CIW%20Inspection%20and%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s24554/CIW%20Inspection%20of%20Dom%20Care.pdf?LLL=0


How we do what we do

Our workforce and how we support their 

professional roles 

What we did in 19/20

We supported frontline social care workers to develop their skills including:

 Training to promote enabling care across the domiciliary care sector

.

 Dementia care training for the adult domiciliary and residential care

workforce

 Embedding the Brain, Behaviour, Attachment, Assessment, Resilience &

Trauma (BBAART) model of practice across Childrens fostering and

residential services.

We delivered outcome focused care and support practice which included:

 Collaborative Communication skills training

 Training on evidencing, recording, and measuring achievement against

outcomes

Post qualifying programmes for social work included:

 Supporting newly qualified social workers via our First year in practice

programme.

 Providing mentoring and assessment for social workers undertaking the

Consolidation Programme.

79Page 123



How we do what we do

How well did we do

 6471 learning activities were undertaken by staff, this figures includes

attendances at in-person classroom based training, on-line events and

e-learning.

 36 staff completed the Health and Social Care Induction Framework

award

 55 social care staff achieved a health and social qualification at Level 2,

3 or 5.

 We provided 38 practice learning opportunities for social work students

hosted by Bridgend.

 12 social workers completed their Consolidation of practice, with seven

continuing into 2021.

What we did in 1920/21

 During 20/21, Covid-19 impacted on learning and development activity.

Our priority was delivering essential training to ensure care and support

was provided safely both for the social care worker and the person

cared for. The Covid-19 pandemic has been a catalyst for change in

the way learning and development is delivered and there has been a

rapid shift towards remote digital learning techniques. This has provided

a focus on the importance of supporting the workforce to access

technologies needed to work and learn at any time and in any place.

Investment has been made in developing on-line resources and virtual

classroom learning and this has substituted for face-to-face for the staff

who are working from home and who have access to ICT equipment.

80Page 124



How we do what we do

 There has been a focus on balancing the existing requirements of the 

service whilst also considering the changing focus of practice. Some 

planned courses were postponed in favour of more bespoke training that 

supported our workforce during the pandemic.  For example:-

 Maintaining Professionalism in Lockdown – Promoting Resilience,

Reflection and the Impact of Moral Injury

 The Impact of Covid 19 on Domestic Abuse – Practical Strategies

for Responding During the Crisis

 Wellbeing Workshops for Managers. These workshops allowed

for further reflection for team managers on their journey as

individual people, and as team managers and leaders of practice.

 Managing self and others. Supporting a social workers wellbeing

by developing self-management skills.

 Cruse Loss and Bereavement Workshops. These were aimed at

supporting staff themselves, as well as supporting staff to offer

support to individuals and families.

 Supervision and supporting staff - workshops for managers to

support their staff in supervision moving from the first year’s

experiences during the pandemic and considering recovery.

 We were able to deliver on some of our planned activities for example:-

 We continued to drive forward our approach to outcome focused

practice. Outcomes / Strengths based practice is embedded

within all aspects of commissioned training and that which is

delivered in house, including mandatory. Staff and managers

have also been provided with additional tools and resources to

embed our model within their service area.

 Providing on-line resources and virtual delivery of training

following the introduction of the Wales Safeguarding Procedures.

81Page 125



How we do what we do

How well did we do 

 5155 learning activities were undertaken by staff, this figures includes

attendances at in-person classroom based training, on-line events and

e-learning. This figure is under-reported as it has not been possible to

record data on some external on-line events.

 43 social care staff achieved a health and social qualification at Level 2,

3, 4 or 5. The level 4 qualification being a newly introduced award.

 4 staff achieved the Training, Assessment and Quality Assurance Award

(TAQA) enabling them to assess the competence of staff on accredited

programmes of study, a further 8 aim to complete during 2021.

Collectively they are supporting 23 learners with their health and social

care qualification.

 We provided 27 practice learning opportunities (PLO) for social work

students hosted by Bridgend. Numbers were lower than in previous

years, mainly due to the impact of Covid on the numbers of individuals

taking up places on social work degree programmes, also Universities

social work programmes taking the decision to postpone PLO’s until

2022.

 Social Workers in their first year of practice received a comprehensive

induction, bespoke core training and individual mentoring (on-line).

9 social workers started their first year in practice in 2020. 8 remain and

are on track to complete later in 2021.

During 2021 three managers have commenced the Team Manager

Development Programme (TMDP) and one the Middle Manager Programme

(MMDP) in 2020. Programmes had been suspended for 2020

82Page 126



How we do what we do

What are we doing next

 Blended approach to learning

Digital learning has proven successful and will continue to be a feature

of a blended approach to learning to include use of self-directed

learning, utilising on-line resources, virtual classrooms and face-to-face.

 Growing our own - secondment scheme.

In response to the challenges in recruitment of newly qualified social

workers, we will be increasing the numbers of staff seconded on to

social work degree programme for entry 2021.

 Supervision

Bridgend has undertaken an audit of supervision practice across the

service and will be revising its supervision policy during 21/22. A

package of training will accompany the launch of the revised supervision

policy.

83Page 127



How we do what we do

OUR FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND HOW WE PLAN FOR THE FUTURE

The end of year annual Social Services and Wellbeing financial summary can be 

found here in the Council Report outlining the revenue budget outturn for 

2020/21:- A:\ACRF 2020-21\Council report - June 2021 - Revenue Budget 

Outturn 2020-21.pdf

OUR PARTNERSHIP WORKING, POLITICAL AND CORPORATE 

LEADERSHIP, GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Council’s Cabinet and the Corporate Management Board (CMB) continue to

meet on a weekly basis which provides the opportunity to oversee the business

of the Council, share the overall direction for the Council and make sure that we

are promoting the One Council approach so that important issues such as the

MTFS, safeguarding and transformation are on the agenda. In addition here are

fortnightly meetings of Cross Directorate Heads of Service and fortnightly

meetings of Cabinet Corporate Management Board (CCMB).

We have a simple vision for Bridgend County Borough Council, to ‘always act as

one Council working together to improve lives.’

The Corporate Plan is developed annually and there is a clear link to the annual

Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate Business Plan which sets out the

priorities for the directorate for the forthcoming year and is attached here for

information.

The Service Development Plan A five year Strategic Vision for Social Services

and Wellbeing 2020-2025 was developed in 2019/20 and was submitted for

Cabinet approval on 15th September 2020.

84

The net budget for the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate for 2020-21

was £73.263 million and the actual outturn was £72.289 million following, an

under spend of £974,000. The outturn budget position was greatly supported by

Covid hardship funding and other short term grant funding. Adult services in

particular has underlying service deficits. The need for targeted early help and

preventative services, as well as statutory adult and social care services, is

predicted to rise following the Covid-19 as people’s physical and mental health

and wellbeing as we support the recovery of our people and communities. This

will have financial resource implications which will need to be understood in the

Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Page 128

file:///A:/ACRF%202020-21/Council%20report%20-%20June%202021%20-%20Revenue%20Budget%20Outturn%202020-21.pdf


How we do what we do

The Council takes its role as corporate parents seriously and the Cabinet has a

Corporate Parenting Committee (one of two Cabinet Committees) that meets

quarterly. The Cabinet Committee consists of all Cabinet members including the

Leader and Deputy Leader plus representatives of all Groups and Corporate

Parenting Champions appointed and representatives of every Overview and

Scrutiny committee. It makes important policy decisions about the services and

provision for care experienced children and care leavers. Overview and Scrutiny

committees also consider policies and developments in Social Services and

makes recommendations.

Links to all of the 2019-20 and 2020/21 Cabinet, Council, Corporate Parenting

and Overview and Scrutiny Committee reports and minutes that relate to social

care can be accessed.Please find attached the link to all reports here:

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories

There is a quarterly corporate performance assessment (CPA) meeting which is

attended by Cabinet, CMB, Scrutiny Chairs and Heads of Service. At this

meeting, the Directors have to present their performance for the quarter which

includes the budget position, performance against business plan actions and

targets, sickness and progress against the MTFS and this is open to challenge

from members of the board. Specifically, the CPA monitors the Council’s

improvement priorities and its commitments which are set out in the corporate

plan, which can be accessed through the Council’s website, please see link here:

Three times a year, the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing, with

the two Heads of Service meet with all of the Directorate managers and this has

continued virtually during the pandemic. This ensures open communication and

updates on national, regional and local matters. It is important that staff feel part

of this process and are able to contribute to the ongoing development of the

service and also to recognise the hard work and achievements collectively and as

individuals. The director also meets regularly with front line staff and carries out a

number of service visits throughout the year.

Partnership working has been fundamental in the Bridgend Social Care response

to the pandemic and safeguarding our most vulnerable citizens.
85

The Plan builds on the previous ten year Commissioning Strategy for Adult

Social Care and the Children’s Social Care ‘Vision into Action, Better Outcomes

for Children, Young People and their Families’ document and provides the

strategic direction for Social Services and Wellbeing in Bridgend.

Page 129

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


How we do what we do

Key to note is:

 Civil Contingencies Act emergency planning mechanisms have been

operational and exercised through:

 Council – gold, silver bronze

 CTMUHB – gold, silver bronze

 Regional Safeguarding Board – regional silver and bronze meetings

 Local Resilience Forum, Incident Management Team (IMT) and

subgroups

 Escalating concerns and IMTs merged together around individual
outbreaks in care homes

 Usual multi-agency governance continued in respect of the Regional

Safeguarding Board, MASH Operational Group and Management Board, early

help and safeguarding, Wales Safeguarding Procedures, Council, Cabinet
(and committees) and scrutiny

 Working in partnerships with providers as ‘one social care sector’ in Bridgend

has been essential to keep people safe. The Council’s Social Care

Commissioning Team focussed on:

 Implementing national initiatives - PPE distribution, WG Hardship Fund,

Statutory Sickness Pay (SSP) scheme, Vaccination Programme roll-out

to the independent sector, Social Care Recognition Scheme, Covid

(LFD) testing programme

 Bespoke local support - Information, support and guidance, information

sharing portal, welfare checking calls, SitRep reporting, escalating

concerns as a supportive mechanism, regional approaches and

initiatives including the care home action plan following the rapid review

of the initial impact on care homes, more frequent provider forums
(weekly domiciliary care & monthly care homes)

86Page 130



How we do what we do

 A real positive of the pandemic has been the impact of strong partnership 

working. The following are highlights:

 Across the Council we worked together to a single essential

services model

 SSWB were part of CTMUHB gold, silver and bronze arrangements

and we worked as one team with the Integrated Locality Team

 BAVO and third sector led the support to the most vulnerable who

were shielding and together with officer across the council and

social care provided both a crisis response and ongoing essential

support and connection

 Public Health – locally and national were essential in supporting the

assessment of risks in care homes and real time decision making

 Shared Regulatory Services – public protection officers were critical

in outbreak management and timely advice and support to the

Council and providers

 Enriched relationships within the new CTM region as the 3 LAs

worked together to manage common issues and risks, for example

the regional PPE distribution system

 With people and communities who as ever are the experts in their
own lives and know what works.

87Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO THE CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

1 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL, HR & REGULATORY SERVICES 
 

SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT  
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Committee with the draft Scrutiny 

Annual Report over a two year period 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.   

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees oversee the decision making of the Cabinet 

Members and support the work of the Cabinet and the Council. They allow citizens 
to have a greater say in Council matters by holding public meetings into matters of 
local concern. These lead to reports and recommendations which advise the 
Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. 
Within their Terms of Reference, Overview and Scrutiny Committees will: a) review 
and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge 
of any of the Council’s functions; b) make reports and/or recommendations to the 
Council and/or the Cabinet and/or any joint Committee in connection with the 
discharge of any functions; c) consider any matter affecting the County Borough or 
its inhabitants; and d) exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, decisions 
made by or on behalf of the Cabinet but not yet implemented. 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 7



 

3.2 Scrutiny is required to submit an Annual Report to Council with a review of how the 
function has operated for the previous period.   The review is a useful tool for 
reviewing the effectiveness of Scrutiny, providing an opportunity to reflect properly 
on how Scrutiny has operated, the challenges and outcomes.  The report provides 
commentary on scrutiny activity for the period. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The draft Scrutiny Annual Report attached as Appendix A provides detail on the 

challenges and outcomes for Scrutiny Committees and Panels for the period, as 
well as identifying some areas of focus for improvement to ensure Scrutiny 
continues to develop and achieve positive outcomes for the residents of Bridgend. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The work of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees relates to the review and 

development of plans, policy or strategy that form part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework and consideration of plans, policy or strategy relating to the power to 
promote or improve economic, social or environmental wellbeing in the County 
Borough of Bridgend. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions.  It is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, 

with 5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report:  

 

 Long-term – the consideration of this report will assist in the continuous 
improvement in the delivery of Scrutiny function from the short-term to the long-
term. 

 

 Prevention – the production of the report allows Members and the public to 
reflect on the outcomes achieved over the period and for outcomes and learning 
to be fed back into future scrutiny improvement and development. 

 

 Integration - the Annual Report supports the wellbeing objectives. 
 

 Collaboration – the scrutiny function is discharged in collaboration with Council 
Officers, partner organisations, Scrutiny Chairs and Members. 

 

Page 134



 

 Involvement – publication of the annual report raises awareness of the work of 
Scrutiny, the challenges and outcomes, thereby increasing potential involvement 
of the public and other stakeholders. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Committee is recommended to consider and endorse the Scrutiny Annual 

Report attached as Appendix A, for submission to Council. 
 

Kelly Watson 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL, HR & REGULATORY SERVICES 
25 August 2021 

 
Contact officer:  Meryl Lawrence  

Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny  
and 
Tracy Watson 
Scrutiny Officer 

 
Telephone:   (01656) 643515 / 643263 
 
Email:   scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Bridgend County Borough Council, 

Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background documents: None. 
 

Page 135

mailto:scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 

 
SCRUTINY ANNUAL 
REPORT 

Page 137



 

 

 

2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

CHAIR’S FOREWORD _____________________________________________________ 3 

OVERVIEW OF CHALLENGES AND OUTCOMES 2020-21 ________________________ 4 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE _________________________ 6 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 1 __________________________ 8 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2 __________________________ 10 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 __________________________ 12 

CALL-IN _________________________________________________________________ 14 

PANELS _________________________________________________________________ 15 

Budget Research and Evaluation Panel ______________________________________ 15 

Cross-Party Recovery Panel – Covid 19 ______________________________________ 16 

Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel _________________________________________ 18 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR SCRUTINY IN 2021-22 AND BEYOND _____________________ 19 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEMBERSHIP 2020-21 ____________________________ 20 

 

Page 138



 

 

 

3 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD 

 

I am pleased to present this Report of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function over a two 

year period 2019/20 and 2020/21.  The report provides an overview of the work undertaken by 

our Committee Members during this period. This includes work undertaken as part of our 

Committee Meetings as well as on our Panels in considering services essential to residents of 

the local community. 

 

During this period, the four Overview and Scrutiny Committees have undertaken 36 meetings 

and considered 47 reports covering a variety of work undertaken by the Council, which in turn 

contributes to the Council’s vision to act as “one Council working together to improve lives”. 

 

This period has not been without its challenges especially since March 2020 as the global 

Coronavirus pandemic has caused disruption to all our lives whilst bringing increasing 

demands and challenges on our public services and our communities.  All Members have 

worked together to tackle the conflicting pressures relating to the pandemic that have affected 

our work and constituents in so many ways.  Members have risen to the challenge and adapted 

our procedures and practices in order to focus scrutiny resources on the areas where we can 

make the most impact.   

 

To conclude, this period has been unusual and challenging, and I would like to take this 

opportunity to thank my Scrutiny Member colleagues for their support, flexibility and 

commitment during this period. 

 

I would also like to thank Officers and invitees who have contributed 

and provided information and attended meetings, which assisted 

with the Overview and Scrutiny function’s work over this period.  

Looking ahead to the challenges of the next 12 months and the 

contribution the scrutiny function can make to contribute to the 

ongoing recovery of the Council, I encourage members of the public 

to get involved wherever possible. 

 

 
 

Cllr Cheryl Green, Chairperson, 

Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Page 139



 

 

 

4 

OVERVIEW OF CHALLENGES AND OUTCOMES 2020-21 
 

On 23 March 2020, the UK Government imposed a nationwide lockdown in an effort to help 

minimise the spread of coronavirus. The Council underwent significant change during this 

period, in that some services have been created, some services stopped and some staff 

redeployed.  Following the Covid-19 pandemic lockdown in March, Scrutiny Committees were 

initially paused as the Authority focused upon key priorities in response to the pandemic. Skype 

test meetings were arranged for Members and Officers to train Committee participants in the 

operation of Skype (and later Microsoft Teams) to prepare for the switch to virtual Committee 

meetings.  Procedures for remote meetings were developed with instructions for the operation 

of the meeting being read out by the Chair at the start of each meeting. 

 

A large combined meeting of Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committees 1 and 2 with multiple 

Cabinet Members, Officers, Headteachers and Pupil invitees, was the first Scrutiny meeting to 

be arranged remotely via Skype for Business on 13 July 2020, to consider draft proposals on 

Post 16 Education and Learner Travel, pre Cabinet decision and post consultation within the 

statutory consultation period.  Cabinet considered the recommendations made by the 

Committee for Post-16 Education on 21 July 2020 and took a decision on the preferred option, 

and having considered the recommendations upon Learner Travel on 15 September 2020 

deferred a decision to amend the Local Authority’s Learner Travel Policy until after Welsh 

Government reviews the current statutory distances.  Scrutiny Committees were recorded and 

uploaded to the Council’s website.   

 

Planning and preparations for last year’s cycle of Budget Research and Evaluation Panel 

(BREP) meetings commenced well ahead of the first meeting on 24 July 2020, with a total of 5 

meetings supported, culminating in a final report to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (COSC) and Cabinet including 7 Recommendations, which Cabinet accepted in the 

main. (Details of this are on Page 15.) 

 

The Cross Party Recovery Panel – Covid-19 was established following a report to COSC on  

6 July 2020 with the aim of shaping, informing and advising Cabinet on the Council’s recovery  

planning to form the basis of the recovery phase of the pandemic.  The Panel met 6 times and  

heard from 5 sets of invitees between 4 and 25 August 2020 and reported 16 recommendations  

in Phase 1 to COSC on 7 September 2020, which were reported to Cabinet on 15 September  

and accepted in the main.  (Details of this are on Page 16.) 

Page 140



 

 

 

5 

At the deferred Annual Meeting of Council on 30 September 2020, the approved calendar of 

meetings included the reinstatement of the Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committees which 

resumed meeting from October onwards working on their revised interim Forward Work 

Programmes for the period up until May 2021.  

 

In November 2021 virtual training was arranged for Scrutiny Chairing Skills and Scrutiny 

Questioning Skills with a trainer from the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 

delivering the training assisted by the Scrutiny Team.  The training had been arranged for 

earlier in the year but had been cancelled due to lockdown, until it could be provided in an 

online module. 

 

Due to the lateness of the Welsh Government financial settlement for local government, the 

scrutiny of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and draft Budget proposals had to be 

postponed from the December cycle of meetings to 3 specially arranged combined meeting of  

all 4 Scrutiny Committees, after January Cabinet to feed back to COSC on 1 February and 

Cabinet on 9 February.  The combined Scrutiny Committees made 14 Recommendations on 

the draft MTFS and draft budget proposals to COSC and on to Cabinet, which were accepted 

in the main. 

 

In April 2021 the draft outline Forward Work Programmes (FWP) were reviewed by the Scrutiny 

Team following review of a number of sources including: Corporate Risk Assessment; 

Directorate Business Plans; Previous Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme report 

topics / Minutes; Committee / Member proposed topics; Policy Framework; Cabinet Work 

Programme; Discussions with Corporate Directors; Performance Team regarding the timing of 

performance information; Recommended Criteria for Selecting Scrutiny Topics; for consultation 

with newly appointed scrutiny Chairs following Annual Council in May 2021 and reporting to 

the first cycle of Scrutiny Committees for consideration.  This resulted in a comprehensive 

refresh and review of the FWP which is ongoing in each Committee.   

 

Monthly Chair and Officer Planning meetings resumed for the FWP planning meetings and 

facilitate dialogue regarding upcoming items on the FWP and any potential emerging items. 

 

Preparations were made for the induction / training of new Scrutiny Chairs following Annual 

Council in May 2021 and a new Scrutiny Member following the Nantymoel By-Election. 

Page 141



 

 

 

6 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Role of the Committee 
 

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee (COSC) considers the 

service provision, planning , management and performance, policies, 

protocols and plans relating to corporate performance and governance  

reports and the Corporate Plan.  The Committee also coordinates and 

contributes to the annual budget consultation process on behalf of the 

other Scrutiny Committees and provides a strategic overview of 

Cabinet’s draft budget proposals.   The Committee also has 

responsibility for coordinating and the forward work programme for the 

Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  

 

 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Performance 
 

 

Highlights 

 

2018-19 

 

2019-20 

 

2020-21 

Number of agenda packs issued to Members in 

line with required deadline 
 

8/8 (100%) 8/8 (100%) 8/8 (100%) 

Percentage of scheduled meetings completed 8/8 (100%) 8/10 (71%)* 8/8 (100%) 

Number of reports considered across the 

Committee 

15 
14 11 

Number of Recommendations made 25 
13 26 

Number of Cabinet decisions debated under 

‘call-in’ 

  0 
1 0 

Number of external representatives attending a 

scrutiny meeting 

7 
  19 2 

Percentage of meetings Webcast 
0/8 (0%) 2/8 (25%) 7/8 (88%) 

 

* Meetings in March & April 2020 cancelled due to Covid-19 Pandemic 

 
  

Chairperson 

Cllr Cheryl Green 

Page 142



 

 

 

7 

Key items looked at during 2019 – 2020 included: 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

• Budget Monitoring 19-20 Q2 Revenue Forecast 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 

• Council's Performance against its Commitments Q2 of 2019/20 (Information Report) 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 and Draft Budget Consultation 

Process 

• Corporate Plan 2018-2022 reviewed for 2020-21 

• Budget Monitoring 2019-20 - Q3 Revenue Forecast 

• Council Performance against its Wellbeing Objectives for 2019-20 (Information Report) 

 
Commissioned Reports 
 

• Incident and Near Miss Reporting Procedure 

• Capital Strategy 2020-21 Onwards 

• Service Delivery Plan - Our Strategic 5 Year Vision 

• Establishment of a Cross-Party Recovery Panel - Covid-19 Pandemic  

• Cross-Party Recovery Panel - Phase 1 Findings and Recommendations 

• Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Performance 2018-19 

 
Call-in 
 

• Playing Fields, Outdoor Sports Facilities and Parks Pavilions 
 

 
Key items looked at during 2020 – 2021 included: 

Performance Monitoring 

• Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast 

• Cabinet Response to the Cross-Party Recovery Panel Recommendations 

• Council Performance against its Commitments at Quarter 2 of 2020-21 

• Corporate Plan 2018-2023 Reviewed for 2021-22 

• Capital Strategy 2021-22 to 2030-31 

• MTFS Education & Family Support and Communities* 

• MTFS Social Services & Wellbeing and CEX's* 

• Continuation of the adjourned combined meeting of all Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees of the 21 January 2021MTFS*  

• Scrutiny Recommendations and BREP 

• Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast 

 

Commissioned Reports 
 

• Sickness Absence related to Stress, Anxiety, Depression and Mental Health 

 
* Combined meeting of all Overview & Scrutiny Committees  

Page 143



 

 

 

8 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 1 
 

Role of the Committee  

 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1 is 

the first forum for Education items which are the 

responsibility of the Cabinet and include in its 

membership a registered representative post, 

from Church in Wales, Roman Catholic Church, 

and parent governor representatives from a 

Primary School, a Secondary school and a 

Special School. 

 

 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1 Performance 
 
 

Highlights 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Number of agenda packs issued to Members in 
line with required deadline 
 

7/7 (100%) 6/6 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 

Percentage of scheduled meetings completed 7/7 (100%) 6/8 (75%)* 2/2 (100%) 

Number of reports considered across the 
Committee 

10 7 2 

Number of Recommendations made 24 22 9 

Number of Cabinet decisions debated under ‘call-
in’ 

0 1 0 

Number of external representatives attending a 
scrutiny meeting 

16 31 10 

Percentage of meetings Webcast 2/7 (29%) 2/6 (33%) 3/3 (100%) 

 

* Meetings in March & April 2020 cancelled due to Covid-19 Pandemic 

 
 
  

Chairperson   

Cllr Carolyn Webster 

until 23 October 2019 

 

      

Chairperson           

Cllr Tom Giffard 

from 23 October 2019 

Page 144



 

 

 

9 

Key items looked at during 2019 – 2020 included: 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

• Plasnewydd Primary School Post-Inspection Action Plan 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 

• Education Outcomes 
 

Pre-Decision 
 

• Review of Post-16 Education Provision across Bridgend Phase 4 Report 

• Review of Post-16 Education Provision Across Bridgend Phase 4 Post-Consultation*  

• Learner Travel Consultation* 

 

Call-in 
 

• Rationalisation of Supported Bus Services 2019-20 
Combined with SOSC2* 

 
 
Key items looked at during 2020 – 2021 included: 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 
• MTFS Education & Family Support and Communities* 
 
 

Commissioned Reports 
 
• Update from the Corporate Director - Education & Family Support 

• Blended Learning in Bridgend Schools since March 2020 

 

* Combined meeting of all Overview & Scrutiny Committees 

Page 145



 

 

 

10 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2 
 

Role of the Committee 

 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2 is the first forum for Social 

Services and Wellbeing items in order to respond to issues relating to 

the Care Inspectorate Wales and the Social Services and well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014.      

 

 

 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2 Performance 
 

Highlights 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Number of agenda packs issued to Members in line 
with required deadline 
 

7/7 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 

Percentage of scheduled meetings completed 7/7 (100%) 5/6 (83%)* 2/2 (100%) 

Number of reports considered across the 
Committee 

7  6  2 

Number of Recommendations made 
16 26 11 

Number of Cabinet decisions debated under ‘call-in’ 0  0  0 

Number of external representatives attending a 
scrutiny meeting 

11 15 0 

Percentage of meetings Webcast 2/7 (29%) 1/5 (20%) 2/2 (100%) 

 
* Meeting in April 2020 cancelled due to Covid-19 Pandemic 

 
  

   Chairperson   

Cllr Cheryl Green 

Page 146



 

 

 

11 

Key items looked at during 2019 – 2020 included: 

 

Performance Monitoring 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 

 

Pre-Decision 

• Home to School Transport  

• Review of Post-16 Education Provision Across Bridgend Phase 4 Post-Consultation 

Report*  

• Learner Travel Consultation* 

 
Commissioned Reports 
 

• Prevention & Wellbeing Approaches including Day Time Opportunities 

• Transformation Programme - Accelerating the pace of change for Integrated Services 

 

Combined with SOSC1*  

 

 

Key items looked at during 2020 – 2021 included: 

 

Performance Monitoring 

• MTFS Social Services & Wellbeing and CEX's* 

 

Commissioned Reports 
 
• Update from Corporate Director - Social Services and Wellbeing 

• Safeguarding Children and Adults During Covid-19 

 

* Combined meeting of all Overview & Scrutiny Committees 

 

 

Page 147



 

 

 

12 

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 
 

Role of the Committee 
 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 

considers the service provision, planning, 

management and performance relating to the relevant 

subject area prioritised and allocated by the 

Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 
 
 
 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 Performance 
 
 

Highlights 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Number of agenda packs issued to Members in 
line with required deadline 
 

7/7 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 

Percentage of scheduled meetings completed 7/7 (100%) 2/4 (50%)** 2/2 (100%) 

Number of reports considered across the 
Committee 
 

9* 2 2 

Number of Recommendations made 29 7 10 

Number of Cabinet decisions debated under ‘call-
in’ 
 

0 0 0 

Number of external representatives attending a 
scrutiny meeting 
 

4 2 2 

Percentage of meetings Webcast 3/7 (43%) 0/2 (0%) 2/2 (100%) 

 

* includes closed meeting 

 

** Meetings in March & April cancelled due to Covid-19 Pandemic 

 
 

 

 

 

Chairperson 

Cllr John Spanswick 

until 30 September 2020 

Chairperson 

Cllr Jon-Paul Blundell 

From 30 September 2020 

Page 148



 

 

 

13 

Key items looked at during 2019 – 2020 included: 

 

Performance Monitoring 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 to 2023-24 

 

Commissioned Reports 
 
• Enforcement 

 
 

Key items looked at during 2020 – 2021 included: 

 

Performance Monitoring 

• MTFS Education & Family Support and Communities* 

 

Commissioned Reports 
 
• Update from Corporate Director – Communities 

• Bridgend Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan and Consultation 

 

* Combined meeting of all Overview & Scrutiny Committees 

 

 

Page 149



 

 

 

14 

CALL-IN 
 
Call-In of Cabinet Decision: Rationalisation of Supported Bus Services 2019-20 
 

In June 2019, 3 Members and the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1 requested to 

Call-In the Cabinet decision of 21 May 2019.  Details as to the reasons for the Call-In were 

summarised as follows: 
 

• The decision to remove the subsidy was not recommended by the Council officers, yet 

decision passed by Cabinet. 

• Effect on Community Transport has not been properly scrutinised, and the report states 

concerns over capacity. 

• Due to public impact, visible public scrutiny should be undertaken. 
 

Members of the Committee heard from members of the public on how the potential removal of 

the bus subsidies could have a potential impact on them. 
 

Members considered the evidence presented to them by Officers and members of 

the public, and did not wish to refer the matter back to Cabinet, therefore, the decision of the 

Cabinet would take effect from the date of the Scrutiny Committee on the 4 June 2019. 

 

Call-in Of Cabinet Decision: Playing Fields, Outdoor Sports Facilities and Parks 
Pavilions 
 

In November 2019, eight Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Chair of 

the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee requested to Call-In the Cabinet decision of 

22 October 2019.  Details as to the reasons for the Call-In were summarised as follows: 
 

• Contrary to the Future Generations Act including the well-being goals of healthier 

Wales and a more prosperous Wales. 

• Insufficient consultation with service users. 

• Clear requirement for greater scrutiny from members to look at alternative methods of 

delivery. 

• Concerns this could have on health and wellbeing of population. 

• Research into long-term impact to Clubs and Societies. 

 
Members of the Committee heard from 17 members of the public on how the changes to 

Playing Fields, Outdoor Sports Facilities and Parks Pavilions could have a potential impact on 

them or their organisations. 

 

Following examination of the decision, the Committee recommend that the decision be 

reconsidered by the Cabinet and made a number of recommendations to Cabinet. 
 

At a special meeting of Cabinet held on the 13 November 2019, Cabinet re-affirmed its 

previous decision made at the meeting dated 22 October 2019. 

Page 150



 

 

 

15 

PANELS 
 

Budget Research and Evaluation Panel 
 
The role of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP) is to: 

 

a) Achieve consensus on the direction of the budget over the life 

of the medium term financial strategy; 

 

b) Achieve a detailed overview and assessment of the budget 

proposals where the expertise and knowledge of each 

Committee contributes to a Corporate understanding and 

appreciation of the draft budget proposals; 

 

c) Assist the Council to develop a budget for the forthcoming year that aims to meet the 

needs of the communities of Bridgend County Borough; 

 

d) Facilitate firmer understanding of the budget setting process and the draft proposals in 

order to assist the Committees in making informed comments, constructive challenge or  

recommendations to Cabinet as part of the budget consultation process. 

 

The BREP process provides a unique opportunity, outside of traditional scrutiny 

arrangements, to undertaken a cross-party approach to support strategic leaders in financial 

planning, compliance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy and identify and support 

potential areas of growth.  

 

The BREP met 5 times between July and December 2020 and submitted its report upon the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 including the draft budget proposals for 

2021-22, to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 1 February 2021 and Cabinet 

on 9 February 2021, which included 7 Recommendations to the Cabinet.  A response from the 

Cabinet was reported to the meeting of Cabinet on 23 February which accepted 4 

recommendations, partially accepted 2 recommendations and advised 1 was already in place.  

 

 

Chairperson 

Cllr Martyn Jones 

 

Page 151



 

 

 

16 

Cross-Party Recovery Panel – Covid 19  
 

The Chief Executive presented a report to the meeting of Cabinet on 

30 June 2020 setting out a proposed approach to recovery planning 

from Covid-19. The recovery programme had the three strands - 

Restart, Recover and Renew.  

 

Following consideration of a report to Corporate Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 13 July 2020, the Committee agreed to  

establish a Cross-Party Recovery Panel. Membership of the 

Recovery Panel comprises the 12 Members of the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee plus 4 additional Members: 2 

Labour; 1 Independent Alliance and 1 Conservative, nominated by 

Group Leaders. The Panel was established with the aim of shaping, informing and advising 

Cabinet on the Council’s recovery planning to form the basis of the recovery phase for the 

Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

The Cross-Party Recovery Panel selected key areas for examination in greater depth and 

made recommendations to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for onward referral to 

Cabinet on 15 September 2020, noting the extremely short timescales in order to feed into the 

realignment of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and Corporate Plan going 

forward. 

 

The Cross-Party Recovery Panel met on six occasions during August 2020 and were supported 

by the Senior Democratic Officer – Scrutiny, Scrutiny Officers and the Group Manager Legal & 

Democratic Services.   

 

During its meetings, the Cross-Party Recovery Panel considered presentations from requested 

invitees including: Public Services Board (PSB) Team Officers; Bridgend Association of 

Voluntary Organisations (BAVO) Chief Executive, Operational Manager and a Community 

Navigator; the Corporate Director - Social Services and Wellbeing and the Head of Adult 

Services; the Director of Bridgend County Care and Repair, and the Head of Partnership 

Services and Group Manager – Housing. 

 

Chairperson 

Cllr Stuart Baldwin 

uun 

 

 

Page 152



 

 

 

17 

The Cross-Party Recovery Panel had taken a structured approach to the selection of key areas 

from those identified for priority to feed into the recovery process and had identified key issues 

following examination and made 16 Recommendations. 

 

On 7 September 2020, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a report on 

the findings of the Cross-Party Recovery Panel and approved the 16  Recommendations of the 

Panel to be forwarded to Cabinet as part of the recovery process, in order to feed into the 

realignment of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Corporate Plan.  

 

The Cross-Party Recovery Panel met on 7 December 2020, considered the Public Services 

Board Community Impact Assessment, the Cabinet response to the Phase 1 

Recommendations and selected Housing and Homelessness as a key area for examination in 

greater depth. The Panel met on 11 March and 14 May 2021 and heard from invitees from: 

Community Housing Cymru; the Chartered Institute of Housing Cymru; the Authority’s Housing 

Team and the Shared Regulatory Service Neighbourhood Service Team. 

 

The Cabinet’s response agreeing the Recovery Panel’s 16 Recommendations from Phase 1 

was reported back to the Panel and the meeting of COSC on 2 December 2020, and a further 

updated progress report was reported to the Panel and the meeting of COSC on 9 June 2021.

  

The Cross-Party Recovery Panel made 5 recommendations on Housing and Homelessness at 

its meeting on 14 May 2021.  The COSC endorsed the recommendations at its meeting on 9 

June 2021 and reported them to Cabinet on 22 June 2021.  Cabinet agreed to consider the 

recommendations. 

 

  

Page 153



 

 

 

18 

Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 
 

From 1 April 2016, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015  introduced statutory Public Services Boards (PSB) across each 

Local Authority area in Wales, to work together to improve the social, 

economic, cultural and environmental well-being of the Board’s area.   

 

The Act also required local authorities to specify a Committee to 

undertake scrutiny of the Public Service Board, which the Authority 

determined to carry out via the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

under the remit of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

The Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel’s membership incorporates 6 Members: 3 nominated 

from the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 1 from each of the three Subject 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees.   

 

The purpose of the Panel is to review and scrutinise the efficiency and effectiveness of the 

Public Service Board and its decisions and governance arrangements.  Examples of this 

scrutiny include the statutory Annual Public Services Board Wellbeing Plan and the Annual 

Report.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chairperson 

Cllr Rod Shaw 

 

Page 154



 

 

 

19 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR SCRUTINY IN 2021-22 AND BEYOND 
 

Detailed below are the areas suggested as future priorities: 

 

 Scrutiny Forward Work Plan - A Forward Work Plan for 2021-22 will be published on 

the Council’s website to enable members of the public to engage and contribute to the 

work of Scrutiny.  The Scrutiny Annual Report will also be published on the website to 

enable members of the public and other stakeholders to look at recent work and 

outcomes. 

 

 Public Engagement / Raising Awareness – as remote Council meetings continue, 

opportunities to enhance engagement with the public will be explored.  It should be noted 

that the public do currently have access to recordings of meetings. Information regarding 

the Council’s scrutiny arrangements on the website will also be revised in order to make 

it easier for individuals and stakeholders to become involved. 

 

 Scrutiny Member Development - with a new cohort of Elected Members arriving in 

2022, consideration will need to be given to the range of support and training available. 

It is recommended that high quality scrutiny training offered by WLGA is made available 

for Members for 2022.  The Member Induction Programme 2022/23will be 

comprehensive and cover related areas around governance, decision making, effective 

chairing skills etc.  New and returning Members will be encouraged to take advantage 

of the full offer and additional opportunities will arise throughout the year which will be 

publicised. 

 

 Hybrid Meetings –the facilitation of hybrid meetings may be explored if the country 

progresses with the easing of restrictions.  This will allow the option of blended virtual-

physical meetings in the future informed by a risk assessment to ensure all covid risks 

are managed appropriately.   

 

 Evaluation and Feedback - an annual Survey of Members will be explored and 

developed to contribute to the evaluation of Scrutiny and feed into future Scrutiny Annual 

reports, and the new performance self-assessment requirements of the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

Page 155



 

 

 

20 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEMBERSHIP 2020-21 

 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Cllr Stuart Baldwin 
Cllr John-Paul Blundell 
Cllr Norah Clarke 
Cllr Jane Gebbie 
Cllr Cheryl Green (Chair) 
Cllr Tom Giffard 
Cllr Martyn Jones 
Cllr Ross Penhale-Thomas 
Cllr Kay Rowlands 
Cllr Rod Shaw 
Cllr John Spanswick 
Cllr Tim Thomas 

 

Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 1 
 
Cllr Stuart Baldwin 
Cllr Tom Beedle 
Cllr John-Paul Blundell 
Cllr Richard Collins 
Cllr Pam Davies 
Cllr Sorrel Dendy 
Cllr Jane Gebbie 
Cllr Tom Giffard 
Cllr Martyn Jones 
Cllr Kay Rowlands 
Cllr Bridie Sedgebeer 
Cllr Roz Stirman 
Cllr Jeff Tildesley 
Cllr Ken Watts 
Cllr Alex Williams 
Cllr Amanda Williams  
 
Registered Representatives:  
 
Tim Calahane 
Rev Canon Edward Evans  
Ciaron Jackson 
Lynsey Morris 
 

Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 2 
 
Cllr Sean Aspey 
Cllr Mike Clarke 
Cllr Pam Davies 
Cllr Sorrel Dendy 
Cllr Jane Gebbie 
Cllr Cheryl Green 
Cllr Altaf Hussain 
Cllr Martyn Jones 
Cllr Mike Kearn 
Cllr Janice Lewis 
Cllr Aniel Pucella 
Cllr Gary Thomas 
Cllr Tim Thomas 
Cllr Carolyn Webster 
Cllr David White 
Cllr Phil White 
 

Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 3 
 
Cllr Norah Clarke 
Cllr Paul Davies 
Cllr David Edwards 
Cllr Gareth Howells 
Cllr David Lewis 
Cllr John McCarthy 
Cllr James Radcliffe 
Cllr Rod Shaw 
Cllr John Spanswick (Chair) 
Cllr Roz Stirman 
Cllr Gary Thomas 
Cllr Elaine Venables 
Cllr Matthew Voisey 
Cllr Lyn Walters 
Cllr David White 
Cllr Julia Williams 
 

Page 156



 

 

 

21 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2019/20 and 2020/21 

Democratic Services 

Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Bridgend County Borough Council 

 

For further details on the contents of this                                                                             

report please email: scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Published September 2021 

Page 157

mailto:scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

1 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL, HR & REGULATORY SERVICES 
 

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Present the Committee with the Forward Work Programme (Appendix A) for 

this Committee for consideration and approval; 
 

b) Request any specific information the Committee identifies to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Request the Committee to identify any further items for consideration on the 
Forward Work Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 
4.3; 
 

d) Present the Forward Work Programmes for the Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees attached as Appendices B, C and D following consideration in 
their respective June Committee meetings; 
 

e) Present the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet (Appendix E) to track 
responses to the Committee’s recommendations made at the previous 
meetings. 

 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 
 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 8



 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

to develop and implement a Forward Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
3.2 The Council’s Constitution also provides for each Subject Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to propose items for the Forward Work Programme having regard for 
the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Risk Management framework, for the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to then prioritise and schedule. 

 
 Best Practice / Guidance 
 
3.3 The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s Good Scrutiny Guide recognises the 

importance of the forward work programme. In order to ‘lead and own the process’, 
it states that Councillors should have ownership of their Committee’s work 
programme, and be involved in developing, monitoring and evaluating it. The Good 
Scrutiny Guide also states that, in order to make an impact, the scrutiny workload 
should be coordinated and integrated into corporate processes, to ensure that it 
contributes to the delivery of corporate objectives, and that work can be undertaken 
in a timely and well-planned manner.  

 
3.4 Forward Work Programmes need to be manageable to maximize the effective use 

of the limited time and resources of Scrutiny Committees.  It is not possible to 
include every topic proposed.  Successful Scrutiny is about looking at the right topic 
in the right way and Members need to be selective, while also being able to 
demonstrate clear arguments for including or excluding topics.  

 
3.5   The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) guide to work effective work 

programming ‘A Cunning Plan?’ makes the following reference to the importance of 
good work programming: 

 
‘Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 
well it can help lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on issues 
of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can end up 
wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is likely to 
be minimal.’ 

 
 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Draft Forward Work Programme 
 
3.6 Following the approval of the schedule of Scrutiny Committee meeting dates at the 

Annual Meeting of Council on 19th May 2021, the scheduling of standing statutory 
reports to Scrutiny Committees upon: the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Performance, the Corporate Plan, Budget Monitoring, etc. were  mapped to the 
appropriate meeting dates into a draft Forward Work Programme. 

 
 

Page 160



 

3.7 The draft Forward work programme for this Committee was  prepared using a 
number of difference sources, including:  

 

 Corporate Risk Assessment;  

 Directorate Business Plans; 

 Previous Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme report topics / Minutes; 

 Committee / Member proposed topics; 

 Policy Framework; 

 Cabinet Work Programme; 

 Discussions with Corporate Directors; 

 Performance Team regarding the timing of performance information.  
 

3.8 There are items where there is a statutory duty for Policy Framework documents to 
be considered by Scrutiny, e.g. the MTFS including draft budget proposals 
scheduled for consideration in December 2021, following which the Committee will 
coordinate the conclusions and recommendations from each of the Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees in a report on the overall strategic overview of 
Cabinet’s draft Budget proposals to the meeting of Cabinet in February 2022.   
 

3.9 An effective FWP identifies  the issues that the Committee wishes to focus on during 
the year and provide a clear plan.  However, at each meeting the Committee will have 
an opportunity to review this as the Forward Work Programme Update will be a 
standing item on the Agenda, detailing which items are scheduled for future meetings 
and be requested to clarify any information to be included in reports and the list of 
invitees.  The FWP will remain flexible and will be revisited at each COSC meeting 
with updates from each SOSC FWP and any updated information gathered from FWP 
meetings with Corporate Directors. 

 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The Committee approved its Forward Work Programme at its meeting on 9th June 
 2021.  
 
4.2 The Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programmes are also 

being reported to the Committee for coordination and oversight of the overall FWP, 
following consideration by their respective Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees.  The SOSC FWP’s will be included in the standing FWP Update report 
as updated by  each SOSC meeting.. 

 
 Identification of Further Items 
 
4.3 The Committee are reminded of the Criteria Form which Members can use to 

propose further items for the FWP which the Committee can then consider for 
prioritisation at a future meeting.  The Criteria Form emphasises the need to 
consider issues such as impact, risk, performance, budget and community 
perception when identifying topics for investigation and to ensure a strategic 
responsibility for Scrutiny and that its work benefits the Authority.  There are a 
number of questions and processes that can help the Committee come to a 
decision on whether to include a referred topic, some of which are set out below: 

 
 
  

Page 161



 

 Recommended Criteria for Selecting Scrutiny Topics: 
 
 PUBLIC INTEREST:  The concerns of local people should influence the issues 

chosen for scrutiny;  
 
 ABILITY TO CHANGE:  Priority should be given to issues that the Committee 

can realistically influence, and which will result in a 
Cabinet decision being taken;  

 
 PERFORMANCE:  Priority should be given to the areas in which the 

Council, and other agencies, are not performing well;  
 
 EXTENT:  Priority should be given to issues that are relevant to all 

or large parts of the County Borough;  
 
 REPLICATION:  Work programmes must take account of what else is 

happening in the areas being considered to avoid 
duplication or wasted effort.  

 

 Reasons to Reject Scrutiny Topics: 
 

  The issue is already being addressed / being examined elsewhere and change is   
              imminent.  

  The topic would be better addressed elsewhere (and can be referred there).  

  Scrutiny involvement would have limited / no impact upon outcomes. 

  The topic may be sub-judice or prejudicial to the Council’s interest. 

  The topic is too broad to make a review realistic. 

  New legislation or guidance relating to the topic is expected within the next year.  

  The topic area is currently subject to inspection or has recently undergone  
    substantial change. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
 

4.4 Corporate Parenting is the term used to describe the responsibility of a Local 
Authority towards looked after children and young people. This is a legal 
responsibility given to local authorities by the Children Act 1989 and the Children 
Act 2004. The role of the Corporate Parent is to seek for children in public care the 
outcomes every good parent would want for their own children. The Council as a 
whole is the ‘corporate parent’, therefore all Members have a level of responsibility 
for the children and young people looked after by Bridgend. 
 

4.5 In this role, it is suggested that Members consider how each item they consider 
affects children in care and care leavers, and in what way can the Committee assist 
in these areas. 
 

4.6 Scrutiny Champions can greatly support the Committee in this by advising them of 
the ongoing work of the Cabinet-Committee and particularly any decisions or 
changes which they should be aware of as Corporate Parents. 

 
4.7 The Forward Work Programme for COSC is attached as Appendix A for the 

Committee’s consideration. 
 

Page 162



 

4.8 The Forward Work Programme for the SOSC 1, 2 and 3 are attached as 
Appendices B, C and D, for coordination and oversight of the overall Forward 
Work Programme. 

 
4.9 The Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet for the previous meetings is  

attached as Appendix E, to track responses to the Committee’s recommendations 
at the previous meetings. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 The work of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees relates to the review and 

development of plans, policy or strategy that form part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework and consideration of plans, policy or strategy relating to the power to 
promote or improve economic, social or environmental wellbeing in the County 
Borough of Bridgend. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions.  It is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, 

with 5 ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 ways of working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report:  

 

 Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the planning of Scrutiny 
business in both the short-term and in the long-term on its policies, budget and 
service delivery.  

 

 Prevention - The early preparation of the Forward Work Programme allows for 
the advance planning of Scrutiny business where Members are provided an 
opportunity to influence and improve decisions before they are made by 
Cabinet.  

 

 Integration - The report supports all the wellbeing objectives.  
 

 Collaboration - Consultation on the content of the Forward Work Programme 
has taken place with the Corporate Management Board, Heads of Service, 
Elected Members and members of the public.  

 

 Involvement - Advanced publication of the Forward Work Programme ensures 
that the public and stakeholders can view topics that will be discussed in 
Committee meetings and are provided with the opportunity to engage. 

 

Page 163



 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. 
 

 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1  The Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for the Committee 
attached as Appendix A;  
 

b) Identify any specific information the Committee wishes to be included in the 
report for the next two Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings, 
including invitees they wish to attend. 
 

c) Identify any further items for consideration on the Forward Work Programme 
having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 4.3; 
 

d) Note the Forward Work Programmes for the Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees attached as Appendices B, C and D, following consideration in 
their respective June Committee meetings; 

 
e) Note the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet to track responses to the 

Committee’s recommendations made at the previous meetings as Appendix E. 

 
Kelly Watson 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL, HR & REGULATORY SERVICES 
25 August 2021 

 
 

Contact officer:  Meryl Lawrence  
Senior Democratic Services Officer - Scrutiny  

 
Telephone:   (01656) 643515 
 
Email:   scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Bridgend County Borough Council, 

Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 

 
Background documents: None. 
 

Page 164

mailto:scrutiny@bridgend.gov.uk


Forward Work Programme 2021-22            APPENDIX A 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee:                                    
 

Date of Meeting: Report Topics: 
 

Mon 
5th July 
9.30am 
 

 

- Revenue Budget Outturn 2020-21 

- Council’s Performance against its Wellbeing Objectives for  

      2020 -21 (Year End Performance) 
 

 

Wed  
1st September 
9.30am 

 

- Budget Monitoring 2021-22 – Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast 

- Director of Social Services Annual report 

- Scrutiny Annual Report 

- BREP Review Report 
 

 

Thurs 
7th October 
9.30am 

 

- Shared Regulatory Service - date to be confirmed with 
Board 

- Accommodation Board 
 

 

Wed 
1st December 
9.30am 
 

 

- Budget Monitoring 2021-22 – Quarter 2 Revenue Forecast 
 
- Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-23 to 2025-26 

and Budget Proposals 
 

- Q2 Performance Report 2021-22 (or Jan 22) 
 

- Annual Safeguarding Report  (or Jan 22) 
 

- Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (VAWDASV)  (or Jan 22) 
 

 

Wed  
12th January 
9.30am 

 

- Corporate Plan 2018-2023 reviewed for 2022-23 
 
- Capital Strategy 2022-23 onwards 

 
- Replacement Local Development Plan  
 
- Scrutiny Recommendations on Medium Term Financial    

Strategy 2022-23 to 2025-26 and Draft Budget 
Consultation Process 
 

 
Wed 
2nd March 
9.30am 

 

- Budget Monitoring 2021-22 – Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast 
 
- Employee Wellbeing 

 

 
Date TBC 

 
- Ethical Procurement 

 
 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Forward Work Programme                                                    APPENDIX B 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1: 
 

Date of 
Meeting: 

Report Topics: 

 
Mon  
14th June   
9.30am 
 

 
- Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 

report; 
- Draft Outline Forward Work Programme 

Mon  
12th July 
2.30pm 

 
Additional Learning Needs Overview  
 
 

 

Thurs 

16th Sep 

9.30am 

 
Central South Consortium - how schools are supported at each 
level and how they balance support. 

 
Mon 
18th Oct 
2.30pm 
 

 
New Curriculum for Wales 
 

 
School Governing Bodies 
 

 

Wed 

8th Dec 

9.30am 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Budget Proposals 

 
Mon 
17th Jan 
2:30pm 

 
How Schools coped with the Pandemic 

 

 
Youth Justice Service 
 

 
Mon 
14th Mar 
9.30am 

 
Post Inspection Action Plan 
 

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Forward Work Programme                                                 APPENDIX C 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2: 
 

Date of 
Meeting: 

Report Topics: 

Thurs  
17th June  
9.30am 
 

- Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Domiciliary Care Inspection 
Report; 

- Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination report; 
- Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel report; 
- Draft Outline Forward Work Programme.  

 
Thurs 
15th July 
9.30am 

 
Social Services and Wellbeing Strategic Programme (followed by  
Thematic reports one to each meeting via a rolling programme as 
below) 

 
Thurs 
23rd Sep 
9.30am 

 
First Theme – Wellbeing * (including Partnerships****) 
- Commissioning care at home services 
- Early help and permanence strategy 

 
Wed 
10th Nov 
9.30am 
 

 
Second Theme – People - voice and control** (including 
Partnerships****) 
 
Workforce including Stress related sickness – would like to include 
in this the SSWB workforce programme priorities of retention and 
recruitment, workforce planning (including reviews of skill mix) and 
career pathways and training and development 
 
Embedding strength based practice in adult and children’s 
services 

Mon 
13th Dec 
9.30am  

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy & Budget Proposals  

 
Wed 
2nd Feb 
9.30am 
 

 
Third theme – Prevention *** (including Partnerships****) 
  
Progress in delivering priorities for wellbeing, leisure and cultural 
services in Bridgend. 

 
Mental Health Strategy 

 
An explanation of the themes in the Forward Work Programme is provided overleaf. 
 

The following Briefing Session is requested: 
Financial Assessments for all social care packages be arranged for Members of the 
Committee, to include what happens when the person does not have capacity and 
Health Board funded care and nursing care funding. 
 
NB. The Annual Safeguarding Report and Violence against Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence (WAWDASV) report has been included in the Forward 
Work Programme for the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Dec/Jan. 

Page 169



Explanation of the Four Themes: 
 
The four themes included in the draft Forward Work Programme above are the key 
principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, which also form 
the foundation of Care Inspectorate Wales’ inspection and performance review 
activity, and are set out below for Members’ information: 
 
* Well-being - To what extent are local authorities promoting well-being, ensuring 
people maintain their safety and achieve positive outcomes that matter to them? 
Including timely step down of children from local authority care, supporting older 
people to return home from hospital. 
 
**People - voice and control - How well are local authorities ensuring people, 
carers and practitioners are having their voices heard, making informed choices, and 
maintaining control over their lives? How is this balanced with the recommendations 
and requirements made by Public Health Wales and Welsh Government? Can the 
local authority demonstrate learning is used to inform new ways of working? 

 
***Prevention - To what extent are local authorities successful in promoting 
prevention and reducing need for increased or formal support from statutory 
agencies? Including taking all necessary steps to support the upbringing of the child 
by the child’s family and supporting people with mental health issues before they 
reach crisis. 
 
****Partnerships - To what extent are local authorities able to assure themselves 
the step change in opportunities for partnership working are positively exploited to 
maximise person-centred planning, ensure integrated service delivery and service 
sustainability. Opportunities include recent learning from digital advances, 
partnership working and ability of the health and social care system to advance at 
scale and pace and work towards a Healthier Wales. 
 

Page 170



Forward Work Programme                                                    APPENDIX D 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3: 
 

Date of 
Meeting: 

Report Topics: 

 
Mon  
28th June  
9.30am 

 
Corporate Parenting Champion Nomination 
 
Nomination to the Public Service Board Scrutiny Panel 
 
Draft Outline Forward Work Programme 

 
Mon  
19th July 
9.30am 

 
Progress of the Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy (Ultra 
Low Emission Vehicles) 
 
Update on the Waste Service Contract 2024 

 
Wed  
29th Sep 
9.30am 

 
Changes in External Economic Funding - Economic 
Development 

 

 
Wed  
24th Nov 
9.30am 

 
Infrastructure Delivery (including roads, street lights, building 
and technology) 
 

 
Thursday 
16th Dec 
9.30am 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy & Budget Proposals  

 
Wed  
16th Feb 
9.30am 

 
Transport Projects in the County Borough 
 

 
Date  
TBC 
 

 
The introduction of the WG Pavement Parking Enforcement 
(following the surveying of streets and collation of information 
for potential Traffic Parking Orders, but before implementation) 
 

 
The following reports have been included in the COSC outline Forward Work 
Programme: 
 
12th Jan 22 – Replacement Local Development Plan  
 

 
The following Member Development Sessions are proposed: 
Process for prioritising maintenance of highways, footpaths, street lights, buildings, 
technology, plus Active Travel) (October) 
 
Corporate Joint Committees Transport, Planning and Economic Development 
(Autumn) 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E  

 
 

Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS MONITORING ACTION SHEET 

 

 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

 

21 April 2021 

 

Sickness Absence 

related to Stress, 

Anxiety, Depression 

and Mental Health 

 

 

The Committee concluded 

by making a number of 

recommendations and 

requests for Information. 

 

 

Scrutiny 

 

ACTIONED – response and information 

circulated to Committee Members 29 

June 2021 

 

9 June 2021 

 

Forward Work 

Programme 

 

 

The Committee concluded 

by making a number of 

recommendations. 

 

Scrutiny 
ACTIONED – response and information 

circulated to Committee Members 2 July 

2021 

 

5 July 2021 

 

Forward Work 

Programme  

 

The Committee requested 

Ethical Procurement to be 

added to the Forward 

Work Programme. 

 

 

Scrutiny  

 

ACTIONED – date to be confirmed. 

 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Budget Monitoring 2021-22 - Quarter 1 Revenue Forecast
	Appendix 1 - Monitoring of Prior Year Budget Reductions Carried Forward into 2021-22 (1)
	Appendix 2 - 2021-22 MTFS Budget Reductions Risk Tracker June 2021
	Appendix 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring end June 2021

	5 Review of Budget Research & Evaluation Panel
	6 Social Services Annual Report 2020/21
	DoSS Annual Report SCAWB 19-21 DRAFT

	7 Scrutiny Annual Report
	Scrutiny Annual Report FINAL L&F Approved

	8 Forward Work Programme Update
	Appendix A - COSC FWP 21-22
	Appendix B - SOSC 1 FWP 21-22
	Appendix C - SOSC 2 FWP 21-22
	Appendix D - SOSC 3 FWP 21-22
	Appendix E Action Sheet COSC 1 Sep 21


